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CREATING FLORIDA

I magine Florida as part of the northwest coast of Africa, with Jacksonville in Morocco and Miami in the Western Sahara. That was what the world looked like 300 million years ago when almost every land mass formed a giant supercontinent called Pangaea. South America was along most of the west coast of Africa, and North America was beside Europe and North Africa. The Gulf of Mexico had the same shape it has today. The lower half—now South America and Africa—was called Gondwana. The northern half was named Laurentian. The lands had crashed into one another during the late Paleozoic and early Mesozoic periods.

From examining the rocks far beneath the surface, it is possible to paint a picture of the creation of Florida. During the late Mesozoic period, perhaps 200 million years ago, the continent of Pangaea began to break apart. Florida was stuck between South America, Africa and North America. As North America pulled away from Africa, a small portion of the Africa plate remained attached to North America. That plate was the basis for the formation of Florida.

As North America came to rest in its present location, Florida was under water, with nothing separating the Gulf of Mexico and the Atlantic Ocean. But the water covering Florida was not deep. Marine creatures died and drifted to the Florida plate, forming limestone.

At the end of the Mesozoic period, a giant meteor struck the Yucatan Peninsula. Scientists believe it killed the dinosaurs. During the Cenozoic era—perhaps fifty million years ago—Florida began to take shape. About twenty-five million years ago, the water receded—during the Lake Oligocene epoch—and reefs formed off the coast. It was also during this period that the Gulf Stream began to form. Finally, at the end of the Oligocene epoch, the sea levels dropped, and Florida emerged, growing wider until it was nearly twice as large as it is today.

We know this because we find the first vertebrates, including horses and bats, buried in the peninsula. It was also during this period that underground cavities formed, which would become sinkholes and a major problem for Florida thousands of years later. The underground springs and caves were also created.

During the Miocene epoch—about twenty million years ago—the Appalachian Mountains were formed, and in Florida, phosphate developed. During this period, horses, saber-toothed tigers, huge sloths, lions weighing up to eight hundred pounds and giant beavers that were six feet in height roamed Florida. Off the coast, sharks as long as fifty feet swam in the warm waters. Their teeth were as long as six inches.

During the Pleistocene epoch, also known as the ice age, sea levels varied widely from three hundred feet lower than today to one hundred feet higher than today. By the Holocene epoch—about ten thousand years ago—the shape of present-day Florida had been formed, the Keys became islands and people began to move in.

The people came late, long after they arrived in the rest of North America and much of South America. It may have been because of a combination of factors: mosquitoes swarmed, tigers and other mammals roamed and the land was not good for agriculture.

After his 1527 trip, Álvar Núñez Cabeza de Vaca wrote one of the first descriptions of the early Floridians. He wrote that they were “wonderfully well built, spare, very strong and very swift.” De Vaca said that they were tall and “look like giants from a distance.”

The idea of the giants stuck. Some early people report seeing men eight feet tall. There were reports of finding skeletons that tall—although, like much about Florida, the stories were wildly exaggerated.

The Native Americans first came to North American nearly thirty thousand years ago, crossing the Bering Strait from Asia to present-day Alaska. They came to Florida perhaps ten thousand years ago, settling around Warm Mineral Springs, near present-day Sarasota. They lived in small huts and hunted animals.

As the climate warmed, more Indians moved to Florida. The Indians began to build villages and improved food gathering. During the Formative era—about the time of the birth of Christ—the Indians began farming and making pottery. From the archaeological sites, we know that they were trading with tribes outside of Florida for a wide range of goods, including copper, iron ore and seeds. The Florida Indians used pearls and shells to trade.

By about AD 1000—the Mississippian era—there were distinct tribes in Florida. They carried spears and traveled by canoe. The major tribes included the Timucua in Northwest Florida, the Apalachee in the panhandle, the Tocobaga near Tampa Bay, the Calusa in southwest Florida and the Tequesta in southeast Florida.

The Timucuan villages contained small huts surrounded by walls of tall tree trunks. The Calusa may have come from the islands, and they centered their empire near Fort Myers. They were expert sailors, and it is believed they sailed to Cuba and, perhaps, to Mexico.

There also were smaller tribes, including the Ais and Jeaga on the East Coast.

Although nine primary tribes lived in Florida, the state is most closely associated with the Seminoles, who were the last tribe to come here. In fact, they were not a single tribe but were Indians from Florida and Georgia who began to band together. They joined to battle the Europeans and included Indians from the Creek, Miccosukee, Hitchiti and Oconee tribes.

Eventually, the Indians were forced from the northern part of Florida and driven south to the Everglades or west to Oklahoma. Today, there are two recognized tribes in Florida: the Miccosukee and the Seminoles.

One of the most significant discoveries was at Windover Farms in Brevard County. A housing development was underway when a backhoe scooped up several skulls. The sheriff responded because the backhoe operator assumed a crime had been committed. But tests determined the skulls were old. Construction was stopped, and the site was excavated. The skulls turned out to be seven thousand years old.

The developers changed their plans and left the area alone—even donating $60,000 to help drain a pond to search for remains. Other remains were preserved in the peat. The excavation produced a wide range of skeletons—from infants to those who died at about sixty years of age. In all, 168 skeletons were found, some of which showed evidence of likely fatal wounds. There were also artifacts, including clothing, blankets and ponchos. The peat left the bodies remarkably preserved, including the brains and the stomach contents, which showed grapes, elderberries and pears.

It is impossible to know an exact number, but scientists estimate that 350,000 people lived in Florida around 1500. One tribe, the Apalachee, had nearly 50,000 members, while other tribes had just a handful of followers. They spoke different languages, including members of the same tribe in different locations. About 150,000 natives spoke some version of the Timucua language.

The native population began to decline quickly once the Spanish arrived. The Spanish brought with them diseases, primarily smallpox, and the natives had no immunity to fight them. The coming of the Spanish changed everything for the natives in Florida.


THE REAL POCAHONTAS

Every schoolchild has heard the story of Pocahontas, the Indian maiden who saved the life of Captain John Smith in the British settlement of Jamestown. As the story goes, Smith is about to be put to death by an Indian chief when he is saved by the chief’s daughter, Pocahontas. While there was a Pocahontas and a Captain John Smith, the evidence shows that Smith, seeking to enliven his memoirs, appropriated the story from a Spanish explorer, Juan Ortiz.

Ortiz’s story begins in 1528, when he came to Florida with a Spanish expedition, landing near Tampa Bay. He was part of an expedition led by Pánfilo de Narváez. Ortiz and three of his companions were captured by the Indians, and his three fellow Spaniards were quickly put to death.

Chief Uzita also ordered Ortiz put to death by being burned alive. He was placed above a fire, and as he screamed in agony, his cries were heard by Uzita’s daughter. She begged her father to save Ortiz’s life, saying he would make a good servant. Ortiz was removed from the fire, and although he suffered serious burns, he survived.

Years later, the expedition of Hernando de Soto discovered Ortiz. He had lived among the Indians so long that he could barely speak Spanish, but he was able to shout out a religious phrase in Spanish to get the attention of the de Soto expedition.

Ortiz told his story of eleven years in captivity, including his salvation by the chief’s daughter. The amazing story spread throughout the world. Ortiz himself drowned three years later.

One of those who eventually heard the story was Smith, who had returned to England. When he first wrote about his adventures in Virginia in 1608, he didn’t mention what would have certainly been the best part of his experiences in the colony. A year later, the Ortiz memoirs were published in England.
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Juan Ortiz was placed above a fire and was in the process of being burned alive when the chief’s daughter intervened to save him. Decades later, John Smith stole the story and claimed that it was Pocahontas who saved his life. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



Fifteen years after the Ortiz memoirs were published, Smith came up with a new version of his experiences in Virginia, this time including the rescue. It was almost a century after it happened to Ortiz. Everyone involved in the story, except for Smith, was dead by then, and there was no one to question his story. And Smith had a motive to embellish his story: he was trying to raise money to finance another trip to the New World.

In Smith’s version, the Indian chief ordered him killed by having him clubbed to death against two rocks. Pocahontas threw herself in front of him and saved him.

Smith had traveled extensively throughout Europe, and he liked the Pocahontas story so much that he used different versions several times, always being rescued by a fair maiden, whether it was in Virginia or the Balkans.

Closer examination of Smith’s story exposes more flaws. At the time he was in Virginia, Smith was twenty-eight years old, and Pocahontas was just eleven. Young Indians girls had their heads shaved nearly bald and remained naked until reaching puberty—not exactly the character portrayed by the movie folks at the Walt Disney Company.

But the story of Ortiz’s dramatic rescue from the Indians may not have been his biggest contribution. The Tocobaga Indians who captured Ortiz and placed him over the burning coals had a term for what they were doing—barbacoa, which we know today as barbecue. Next time you have a cookout, you can impress your friends with your knowledge of the Tocobaga language.




THE REAL FIRST THANKSGIVING

Thanksgiving is an American institution, celebrated every November to remember when the Pilgrims dined with the Indians. Every schoolchild learns the story of that first Thanksgiving in 1623. But instead of salt- and peppershakers shaped like pilgrims, they should be made to look like Spanish soldiers.

Nearly a century before the Pilgrims landed at Plymouth Rock, the first thanksgiving celebration was at Tampa Bay in 1529, a second was celebrated in 1559 in Pensacola and a third in St. Augustine in 1565, when the Spanish shared their meal with the Timucua Indians. Historians believe the meal in St. Augustine consisted of salted pork and garbanzo beans rather than turkey and stuffing.
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THE SPANISH ARE COMING

Legend has it that Juan Ponce de León was the first European to see Florida, but that is almost certainly not the case. The proof that Florida was visited earlier lies in what is known as the Cantino planisphere.

In 1502, Alberto Cantino smuggled a map—with amazing details about the world—from Portugal to Italy. Based on the explorations of the Portuguese explorer Pedro Álvares Cabral, it clearly shows an outline of the northwest coast of South America; the island of Hispaniola, Cuba; and the east coast of North America, including Florida jutting out. Although the map was known in 1502, there is no exact date for when it was made.

It is also thought that the natives of Cuba traveled to Florida to trade, and the Spanish in Cuba might also have traveled to Florida before Ponce de León.

For Ponce de León, Florida was a consolation prize—and not much of a prize at that. Ponce de León came to the New World on the second voyage in 1493. During this cruise, Ponce de León landed on Puerto Rico for the first time.

In 1509, Ponce de León became governor of Puerto Rico—appointed by the king of Spain. But he fell victim to politics. Diego Colon, the son of Christopher Columbus, waged a lengthy battle over what he claimed were the rights he had inherited from his father. Columbus had sweeping powers in the New World, and the court backed up Colon, who moved to replace Ponce de León. The battle between the two raged for several years, and eventually, Ponce de León lost his position.
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Ponce de León lost out for political power in Puerto Rico and was given Florida as a consolation prize. However, he found only death in his new empire. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



The Spanish had heard of the lands north of Cuba, and King Ferdinand offered Ponce de León a royal contract to look for “the Islands of Benimy.” Ponce de León had a three-year contract to look for new lands, but he had to finance the expedition himself. The contract stipulated how any found gold or slaves were to be divided. But what may be most important was what the contract didn’t mention: a fountain of youth. That legend would come later and stick with him for centuries to come.

The Fountain of Youth myth was one that involved the New World. In the Spanish telling of the story, the manatee—also called the sea cow—became the mermaid. Even Christopher Columbus mistook manatees for mermaids but complained they were “not half as beautiful as they are painted.”

The other long-standing Florida legend involves pirate José Gaspar. There is even a major annual celebration in Tampa called the Gasparilla Pirate Festival. He is included in history books, but the fact is there never was a José Gaspar.

Ponce de León purchased three ships, recruited two hundred men and left Puerto Rico on March 4, 1513. Our knowledge of the voyage is second hand; a Spanish historian had access to the logs, but the account was not published until 1601. The original log disappeared. The account is short and spotty, and its accuracy has been challenged.

On April 2, 1513, Ponce de León and his men spotted what they thought was an island, like the others they had found in the Caribbean. It was the Easter season, known as Pascua Florida, or Feast of Flowers. So Ponce de León named the land La Florida. He landed somewhere along the coast, certainly between Jacksonville and Melbourne.

The exact location of his landing has long been disputed, and the true landing point will never be known. The account claims that Ponce de León landed just north of St. Augustine, but many are dubious. Ponce de León apparently was off on every sighting by a degree or two. The author of the account does give the depth of the water where Ponce de León landed, and that seems to match Ormond-by-the-Sea.

Ponce de León and his men also encountered the Gulf Stream, which would soon become more valuable to the Spanish than gold or slaves. He sailed south and landed at Biscayne Bay and then along the Florida Keys and up the west coast of Florida, probably to Charlotte Harbor. Some historians believe he landed farther north, perhaps in Tampa Bay, and a few think he may have reached Pensacola.

In southwest Florida, they encountered the Calusa Indians, who were friendly at first but soon turned hostile—the first of hundreds of conflicts between settlers and Indians in North America that would last nearly four hundred years.

After eight months, Ponce de León returned to Puerto Rico and then sailed for Spain to report to the king. He received a warm welcome from the king, who knighted him and signed a new contract giving him sweeping rights in Florida. But first, Ponce de León had to subdue warring Indians on the islands.

There were other delays, and it was 1521 before Ponce de León was able to put together the men and material for a colony to settle in Florida. With two hundred men and women, he set off. There were farmers, artisans and, of course, the priests required by the church. He brought fifty horses, other animals and farming equipment.

He landed on the southwest coast near Charlotte Harbor. The Calusa attacked, and Ponce de León was wounded by an arrow. It is believed that the braves poisoned the arrow with sap from the Manchineel tree. The expedition sailed for Havana, where Ponce de León—and his dream of settling Florida—died.

But his name of La Florida stuck, even though some people referred to it as Tegesta, after the Tequesta Indian tribe. The Dutch mapmaker Hessel Gerritsz named the peninsula Tegesta, and the name was used by many.


THE MYTH OF THE FOUNTAIN OF YOUTH

Beginning around the twelfth century, explorers began to spread word of a marvelous fountain capable of restoring youth; it became known as the Fountain of Youth. At first, it was thought to be in the Far East, but it moved around depending on the story being told.

The legend has become most firmly attached to Spanish explorer Ponce de León and Florida. Ponce de León came to Florida in 1513, and his goal was to find wealth and slaves, just like the other Spanish explorers who came to the New World. Ponce de León never mentioned the fountain, and in the documents he signed with the king of Spain, there is no mention of a fountain.

In fact, the first mention of the fountain did not appear until years after Ponce de León’s arrival. There was speculation about where the fountain was located even within Florida. Some thought the fountain was the St. Johns River, which drew notice because it flowed north. Others pointed to Green Cove Springs near Jacksonville, or even Silver Springs near Ocala.

In the twentieth century, various promoters tried to convince the public that they had discovered the fountain. In 1934, it was in Bal Harbour; in 1945, it was in Sarasota. The fountain’s association with St. Augustine began in the 1870s when a real estate promoter named a small stream “Ponce de Leon Spring” and hinted that it was the Fountain of Youth. He sold visitors glasses of water from the stream and some real estate.

In 1900, Loella Day McConnell and her husband, Edward, came to St. Augustine from Alaska. They purchased land near downtown. She had been one of the nation’s first female doctors and practiced in Chicago before heading for the gold fields of the Yukon. She stayed briefly in St. Augustine and then returned to the Yukon. When she came back in 1904, she did not bring her husband.

McConnell sailed for Spain, where, she said, she learned that her property was the site of the Fountain of Youth. When she returned, she said she had discovered a coquina cross buried on her property—presumably put there by Ponce de León.

She claimed to find other clues buried on her property. Others in town claimed that McConnell had the cross planted, along with the other “proof.”

The local newspaper cooperated in promoting the site—which drew tourists and their money—and soon, thousands were flocking to the site. McConnell died in 1923, and the property passed to Walter Fraser, who was even more of a promoter than McConnell. He defended the fountain as the true Fountain of Youth, even successfully suing a magazine that claimed it was a fraud.

In 1934, something surprising happened. Researchers found the remains of what is believed to be the first Spanish town in North America. It turned out that history really did happen on McConnell’s land.
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THE BAD LUCK EXPEDITIONS

The Spanish bad luck continued with Pánfilo de Narváez’s expedition on the West Coast in 1527. As with Ponce de León, Narváez soon faced warring Indians, in this case, the Tocobaga. Narváez tried to return to Mexico, but his expedition faced starvation. Just four members of his expedition survived.

His expedition is significant because Narváez brought with him the first Africans to North America. Just one of the two Africans was among the survivors who reached Mexico. It is unclear whether the Africans were slaves or free. Hernando de Soto came in 1539 and also landed on the West Coast and then headed north on his four-year trek for gold. He died on the banks of the Mississippi.

Tristán de Luna y Arellano went to Pensacola in 1539 with the goal of establishing a permanent settlement. It survived two years before a hurricane struck, and the colony was abandoned in 1541.

One lasting contribution of all these expeditions was the reintroduction of the horse. Horses had existed in Florida for thousands of years but had become extinct (the Indians ate them). The Spanish expeditions reintroduced them, although they were abandoned by the expeditions and became wild.

One of the expeditions introduced oranges to Florida. No one is quite sure who planted the first orange trees in the New World, but by 1579, they were growing around St. Augustine. The Spanish liked to eat oranges, but they had plenty in Spain, and there was no reason to grow oranges in Florida and ship them to Spain.
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Hernando de Soto landed in Florida to launch an ambitious four-year journey through the southeastern United States. He died of disease on the banks of the Mississippi River. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



When the British arrived, they saw oranges as a cash crop. In 1776, two casks of juice and sixty-five thousand oranges were sent to England. Many trees were planted along the St. Johns, but by the time the trees began bearing fruit, the Spanish had retaken control of Florida.

Oranges became a major crop when the United States acquired Florida. By 1835, millions of Florida oranges were shipped to the North and to Europe. Citrus remained the most important source of revenue for Florida for more than a century.


WALKING FROM TAMPA TO MEXICO

Pánfilo Narváez came to Florida looking for gold and wasn’t going to let the facts get in his way. He landed on Florida’s west coast in 1528 and began his fruitless search. When the Indians told him there was no gold, he assumed they were lying. In one case, he cut off the nose of an Indian chief who told him there was no gold.

As he moved through Florida, failing to find anything of value and angering the Indians, one of his men, Álvar Núñez Cabeza de Vaca, began to feel that the expedition was not going well. The men marched from present-day Tampa Bay to near what is now Tallahassee. As they made their way, many of the men succumbed to illness. Cabeza de Vaca repeatedly urged Narváez to turn back but was ignored.

Finally, Narváez agreed to return to Tampa Bay but realized that the expedition could not survive an overland journey. Their only hope was to travel by sea, but they had no boats. They used the material they found in the woods, built five boats and set sail.

The boats encountered a storm and became separated. Only the Cabeza de Vaca boat survived, but most of those on his boat became ill and died. After seven weeks at sea, his boat washed up on an island off Texas. The boat was wrecked, and Cabeza de Vaca and his men had to stay on the island for a year.

Cabeza de Vaca reached the mainland with a handful of companions, and they began to make their way across Texas. They were captured by Indians and enslaved for two years. The men escaped and walked to the Pacific Ocean and then down to Mexico.

Eight years after landing in Tampa Bay, only three survivors reached Mexico City, where they were greeted as heroes. Cabeza de Vaca became a celebrity and, to help cement his glory, spread stories of gold in Florida.

His biggest lie remains a myth. He claimed that he had found the location of seven cities made of gold, probably in Arizona. The myth spread around the world and still exists today. But his fame did not last long, and he died in obscurity.
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THE SPANISH COME TO STAY

The Spanish were not alone in failing in the New World. The French explorers had their own failures. René Goulaine de Laudonnière landed at present-day Jacksonville, although some researchers believe it was farther north, along what is now the Georgia coast. Laudonnière was the first of many who came to North America seeking religious freedom. He was a Huguenot, a Protestant denomination.

The arrival of the French created major problems for the Spanish. Spain was devoutly Catholic, and the king of Spain answered to the pope. The pope worried that the French Protestants would convert the Indians to their faith rather than to Catholicism. He told the king to eliminate the Protestants and convert the Indians to the Catholic faith.

But the Spanish had other reasons for settling Florida. They had found that the Gulf Stream that ran along the East Coast created the perfect route for the gold ships traveling between the New World and Spain. It wasn’t hard for pirates to figure out the route the ships would take and wait in ambush. The Spanish needed a fort along the route to protect their ships.

In response, the king ordered Pedro Menéndez de Avilés to settle Florida, set up missions to convert the Indians and eliminate the French. Menéndez and the king envisioned a giant empire, stretching from Newfoundland to Florida and then west to the Pacific. Menéndez originally planned to establish his headquarters in present-day South Carolina. He also planned to look for the river that flowed from the Atlantic to the Pacific, a shortcut to the riches of Asia to be controlled by Spain.
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Although the artist has undoubtedly embellished the event, Jean Ribault did claim Florida for the French after landing near present-day Jacksonville. The French did not survive long in Florida. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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A 1591 map of Florida by Jacques le Moyne de Morgues greatly exaggerates the size of the Bahamas and features a sea monster in the Gulf of Mexico. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



Instead, Menéndez landed at St. Augustine, about forty miles south of the French settlement. The French and the Spanish had one thing in common—each wanted the other gone from Florida.

Menéndez organized an overland expedition and marched on Fort Caroline, the French fort near present-day Jacksonville, shortly after arriving in St. Augustine in 1565. He attacked and killed 132 Frenchmen in the fort, sparing only the women, children and a few drummers.

Menéndez left Spanish soldiers at Fort Caroline. They were attacked and massacred by the French four years later. Menéndez headed south, back to St. Augustine. The French leader, Jean Ribault, left Fort Caroline shortly before the Menéndez attack and headed toward St. Augustine. He encountered a massive storm that wrecked three of his four ships south of St. Augustine, and his crew members stumbled ashore without their weapons and equipment.

The French survivors began moving along the coast but were captured by Menéndez, who ordered the French killed. The area was named Matanzas, or “place of slaughter.”

Menéndez had planned to bring five hundred African slaves, but so many Spaniards wanted to come that he had no room for the slaves. Menéndez did enslave Indians in Florida, and the Indians enslaved Spaniards they captured.

Menéndez did bring three Africans as part of his crew. He noted that the French brought free Africans to Fort Caroline. Most history books claim that the first African American born in North America was born in Jamestown in 1624, but it was actually in St. Augustine. Spanish records list the birth of the first African American as taking place in St. Augustine in 1606. The American slave trade began when Africans were taken to Jamestown—a British colony—in 1619.

St. Augustine became the Spanish center in North America. As such, it remained a target, primarily for the British, who were increasingly active in North America. The Spanish built a succession of forts, each one larger and stronger than its predecessor.

St. Augustine was the center of a large network of missions stretching north to present-day South Carolina and west to the panhandle of Florida.

There was a smallpox epidemic in 1569, but the biggest threat was from the British, whose numbers were increasing every day.

St. Augustine was just an outpost and produced no revenue for the empire. In fact, it was a financial drain on the other Spanish colonies. The other Spanish territories in the New World had to finance St. Augustine, something they resented.

The result was that St. Augustine did not grow, while the British colonies were growing by the day. The British, who began in Massachusetts and Virginia, pushed south into the Carolinas and then into Georgia.

Florida was a problem for the British in two ways. The first problem was slavery. Although the Spanish practiced a form of slavery, it was far more lenient than the British system, and slaves from the southern British colonies began escaping to Florida. At first, Spain had a policy of paying the British owners for their slaves and allowing the slaves to work off the debt, primarily in the construction of the fort. But in 1669, the Spanish stopped paying the owners and announced that escaped slaves would still be protected. The escaped slaves even established a settlement outside of St. Augustine, known as Fort Mose, in 1738.

The slaves were valuable property, and the British plantation owners saw their property running away to Florida. The Spanish thought it would weaken the British if more slaves were lured to Florida. They offered freedom to slaves who converted to Catholicism. Many slaves sought refuge with the Indians, often intermarrying.

The other problem was with the Seminoles, who used Florida as their base to attack into Georgia.

In 1702, James Moore led a military force of British settlers and Yamasee and Creek Indians to attack St. Augustine. They burned the small town but could not seize the fort. Moore also attacked Spanish missions and killed Indians who supported the Spanish. On the other side of Florida, the French captured Pensacola in 1719.

Spain, once one of the world’s strongest nations, was losing its wealth and powers. To counter the threat, Spain built a series of forts in St. Augustine, each stronger than its predecessor. Finally, after the first forts proved unsatisfactory, work began on a massive masonry structure in 1672. It was named the Castillo de San Marcos and was built of crushed seashells. The fort remained in Spanish hands until England acquired Florida in 1763. The British renamed it Fort St. Mark. The Americans acquired Florida in 1821 and renamed the fort Fort Marion after Francis Marion, the Revolutionary War hero.

In 1924, the fort was declared a national monument and was deactivated as a military installation in 1933. In 1942, the name Castillo de San Marcos was restored.
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PASSING FLORIDA TO THE BRITISH

In Europe, the war that took place from 1754 to 1763 is called the Seven Years’ War, and in the United States, it is known as the French and Indian War. Under any name, it had a tremendous impact on the destiny of the world. It involved the most powerful nations in the world at the time, and it impacted nations from the Philippines to Africa to both North and Central America. France and Great Britain began fighting in 1754 when the British attacked the French forts in North America. In Europe, Prussia and Austria were battling, and soon, alliances formed.

Spain was aligned with France—against Britain. During the war, Britain captured Spanish Cuba and held it until the end of the war. When the shooting stopped, Britain offered Spain a deal: trade Cuba for Florida. For Spain, Cuba was much more valuable than Florida; it was the center of its empire in the New World. For England, Florida was more valuable. Taking Florida would eliminate the Spanish influence, eliminate a sanctuary for slaves and give Britain the entire East Coast of North America.

In 1763, Britain took Florida and held it for the next twenty years. Spain had controlled the colony for two centuries, but during the next two decades, Britain had more impact on Florida than Spain had in two hundred years. Nearly every Spaniard left, along with some African Americans who were facing an uncertain future.

Britain divided Florida into two colonies, East Florida and West Florida, with the dividing line along the Apalachicola River. At the time, West Florida was huge, stretching to the Mississippi River and going north to include Baton Rouge.

Then, Britain set about drawing people to its new colonies, especially veterans of the French and Indian War. In Britain, there were attempts to lure people to Florida with offers of land and an overly attractive picture of the region.

Many of the new arrivals came from South Carolina and Georgia, plantation owners looking for new land. Cotton was a highly profitable crop, but it wore out the soil, and the idea of crop rotation was far in the future. Some planters abandoned their farms and moved to Florida.

The British saw the possibilities Florida offered and built roads, encouraged such crops as sugarcane and established a lumber industry that would play a major role in shipbuilding. The new residents also brought thousands of slaves to clear the land and tend the cotton crops in an area known as Middle Florida, which was along the Georgia border.

But the worsening relations between the northern colonists and the British were about to affect Florida, as England sought to tax the colonists to pay the costs of maintaining defenses in the colonies. When northern colonists called a meeting in Philadelphia to consider action against the king, both East and West Florida were invited to send delegates.

But Florida was happy with the king and declined the invitations. The issues that upset the northern colonies didn’t bother the people in Florida—in fact, in some cases, they embraced the British rule. For example, in the North, the people hated the Quartering Act, which required residents to house and feed British soldiers. In Florida, on the frontier with Indians all around, the soldiers were a welcome sight.

Not only did Florida decline to join the other thirteen colonies, but also the population overwhelmingly supported the British. Britain was able to use Florida as a staging area for its troops, launching raids from Florida and using it as a refuge for Tories who fled the thirteen colonies.

Spain, which had been on the losing side in the French and Indian War, was on the winning side this time. Spain allied with France, which supported the colonies. Spain helped by capturing Pensacola from the British in 1781. Britain was forced to give up Florida, and Spain took over.

The only question was the boundary of Florida. The treaty established the boundary at the thirty-first parallel, which further reduced the size of Florida. Today, the thirty-first parallel remains the northern boundary of Florida.


A COLONY ENDS IN DISASTER

Today, New Smyrna Beach offers some of the most beautiful coastline in the state. The beach draws hundreds of thousands of visitors each year who enjoy the surf. But nearly 250 years ago, it was the scene of a great tragedy.

In 1768, Florida belonged to the British, and the government was anxious to attract new settlers to its colony. Dr. Andrew Turnbull had an idea: if the British government would give him 100,000 acres in Florida, he would bring colonists from around the Mediterranean to grow cotton and produce silk and indigo.

The colony was designed to support 500 people, but Turnbull recruited 1,400 men, women and children. They were put to work in the rugged land, surviving on a diet of grits. They were little more than slaves, supervised by overseers who whipped the workers to urge them to work harder.

There was a mutiny, and two of the leaders were put to death. Within two years, more than half the original colonists were dead. Turnbull, however, lived lavishly, spending the money that was intended for his financial backers. Turnbull was ordered arrested, but he escaped to South Carolina.

The colony disbanded, and many of the survivors escaped to St. Augustine, where their descendants still live. Just 291 of the original colonists survived.
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BACK TO THE SPANISH

In 1789, George Washington took the oath of office in New York to make the start of a new democracy. At the same time in Florida, there was also an inaugural celebration, this one for the new Spanish king, Charles IV. In St. Augustine, there was a daylong celebration with flags, banners and floral demonstrations. A large portrait of the new king was on display, and cannons were fired. The celebration lasted three days. The king ruled Florida until it was acquired by the United States in 1821. It was not until 1825 that Florida celebrated the inauguration of an American president.

The return to Spain only created more problems for Florida. First, Spain was a much weaker nation than it had been a century before. It had given up its desire to convert the Indians, had spent much of its wealth and was seeing much of its New World empire under threat from foreign powers and from its New World subjects. Any effort in Florida by the Spanish would be costly and have no chance for financial return.

The Spanish had moved out when the British moved in, and the British policies had encouraged thousands of British citizens and their slaves to move in. Spain had a colony with almost no Spaniards. The king sent a handful of officials and a few soldiers but not nearly enough to handle Indians, fleeing slaves, pirates and even revolutionaries who found Florida to be the perfect refuge.
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THE SLAVE TRADE

There was another problem with slavery involving the United States. Under the U.S. Constitution, the importation of slaves into the United States was to end in 1808. But the trade was so lucrative that slave traders smuggled the Africans into the United States. The perfect landing spot was the Florida coast, usually in the panhandle. With all its inlets and jetties, Florida has more than two thousand miles of coastline. Slave traders could land along the almost empty panhandle coast and then take the slaves to Georgia for a quick profit. Many of the slaves were landed near Amelia Island and then taken to Georgia. Some captains pretended they had wrecked their ships on a reef along the coast and were forced to land their human cargo.

The illegal slaves often came from Cuba, where the slave trade was still legal. One Tallahassee newspaper said, “Many do not regard the importation of slaves from Cuba as a crime.” Reflecting the views of most southerners, the newspaper continued, “They are already slaves and their change of residence to this country is undoubtedly an improvement of their condition and should not be objected to by friends of humanity.”

Even after Florida became part of the United States, the illegal slave trade continued. In 1836, Captain Charles Cox brought slaves ashore at St. Joseph on the panhandle and told officials he was bringing oranges. He had already arranged to sell them to a Georgia plantation owner. But, in this case, a United States marshal was watching and ordered the slaves freed. There is no record of their fate, but the ship was seized after a court fight that reached the Supreme Court.

The Spanish tried to stop further emigration from the United States, but the few soldiers could do little to halt the influx. Both the new arrivals and the British citizens who remained had no loyalty to Spain and resented the soldiers’ presence. Spain became a bystander to the events happening in its colony.

The situation boiled over in 1810 when residents of West Florida staged a revolution, proclaimed the Free and Independent Republic of West Florida and captured the undermanned Spanish fort at Baton Rouge. They even had a flag: blue with a single white star. It was called the Bonnie Blue Flag. The new country lasted less than three months.

The United States saw its chance to seize West Florida for itself, and President James Madison claimed the region as part of the Louisiana Purchase. The claim, which had first been made by Thomas Jefferson, was dubious at best. But Spain was in no position to resist American claims. The territory stretched from Mobile to New Orleans and left Florida with its present territory, after hundreds of years of shrinking.

Spain kept East Florida, which was still a haven for runaway slaves and marauding Indians. In response, the U.S. Army began entering Florida.
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SPAIN VERSUS THE UNITED STATES

Secretary of State John Quincy Adams said Florida had become “a derelict open to the occupancy of every enemy, civilized or savage, of the United States, and serving no other earthly purpose than as a post of annoyance to them.” There is confusion about exactly when U.S. troops began their excursions into Florida. Even the branches of the military cannot agree. The army says it was between 1814 and 1819. The navy says it was between 1816 and 1818.

Andrew Jackson had become a national figure during the Creek War in 1813–14. Many of the Creeks fled into Florida, joining with the Seminoles. The War of 1812 was underway, and the British armed the Seminoles and Creeks, seeing them as allies against the United States. By the summer of 1814, there were one thousand Indians at Pensacola, along with some British troops. Jackson forced the British out of Pensacola and back to the Apalachicola River. When the War of 1812 ended, British troops still in Spanish West Florida turned over their fort in the panhandle to the Indians and fugitive slaves. Slave owners worried that the fort would become a rallying point for slaves throughout the South and spur a slave revolt.

It became known as the Negro Fort. Andrew Jackson told the Spanish governor to eliminate the Negro Fort, but the governor said he did not have the troops to capture the fort. Jackson decided to invade the fort, and during the attack, a shot hit the fort’s powder magazine. The explosion killed 250 of the 320 people inside, including women and children. With the fort gone, the Jackson troops withdrew. The battle launched what became known as the First Seminole War, the first of three wars with the Seminoles.
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Andrew Jackson is remembered as an early hero in Florida, but he hated it. As territorial governor, he stayed just a few weeks before quitting in disgust and returning to his home in Tennessee. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



The Seminoles continued to launch raids in Georgia. In March 1818, Jackson and some 4,200 soldiers, including 1,400 Creek Indians, raided Florida, burning the Indian town of Tallahassee. Jackson burned a Spanish fort at St. Marks and hanged two Indians without a trial. He also seized a Scottish trader named Alexander George Arbuthnot. There were rumors that Arbuthnot was selling guns to the Indians. Jackson captured Robert Ambrister, also accused of trading with the Indians. The two were convicted by a military tribunal; Ambrister was executed by firing squad, and Arbuthnot was hanged.

Jackson planned to return to his Nashville home but instead headed for Pensacola. The Spanish surrendered the city, and Jackson finally returned home. He left behind an international crisis. The United States was trying to buy Florida from Spain, and the Jackson invasion angered the Spanish. Secretary of State John Quincy Adams apologized for the attacks and said he would return Pensacola. Spain had few options; the nation had lost control of its territory and did not have the military might to contest the Americans. Also, Spain was facing a revolution in Latin American and was drained by the Peninsular War in Europe. Florida was at the bottom of its list of priorities. England rejected Spain’s request for aid.

Spain’s weakness was seen in the actions of General Gregor MacGregor. MacGregor fought with Simon Bolivar in liberating Venezuela, and he thought Florida was also ripe for the taking from Spain. He assembled an army of 150 soldiers in the United States, seized the Spanish fort on Amelia Island and raised a flag with a green cross. He declared a republic. But he ran out of money, and most of his men deserted.

To raise the money, he opened Amelia Island—near Jacksonville—to pirates looking for a safe place to dock. The Spanish were able to scrape together a few hundred men, but it was enough to frighten MacGregor. He “sold” his island to the French pirate Louis Aury for $50,000.

Aury turned the island into a thieves’ paradise. He flew the Mexican flag and opened up his island to slave smugglers and other criminals. Spain was helpless, and the entire world could see its weakness. The U.S. Navy had to step in, landing on the island and forcing Aury to flee.

Instead of leaving, the navy was ordered to stay, and President James Monroe said the United States would hold the island “in trust for Spain.”
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FINALLY, FLORIDA JOINS THE UNITED STATES

In 1819, Spain agreed to sell Florida and settle border disputes between the United States and Spanish Mexico. The United States agreed to pay $5 million for Florida, with the money going to settle claims by Americans against Spain.

Although an agreement was reached, Spain delayed ratification for selfish reasons. Spain was worried that the United States would become involved in the Latin American revolutions—on the side of the revolutionaries—and delayed ratification for two years. In the Senate, ratification of the treaty encountered opposition. Henry Clay of Kentucky also wanted Spain to give up Texas, but the treaty passed on February 19, 1821.

A commission was established to handle the claims against Spain, creating a stampede for the $5 million. There were 1,859 claims, and some of the nation’s leading attorneys, including Daniel Webster, were involved.

Florida became a territory on March 30, 1822, consisting of two counties: Escambia in West Florida and St. Johns in the peninsula. Hundreds of free blacks fled to Cuba to avoid control by the United States.

The original plan was to have two capitals, one in St. Augustine and the other in Pensacola. The annual legislative sessions would alternate between the two cities. But traveling between the two cities was difficult and dangerous. There was a shipwreck at one point, and members became convinced after two years that a centrally located capital was needed.

Tallahassee was chosen because it was halfway between Pensacola and St. Augustine. A small log cabin served as the first capitol building.
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THE SEMINOLE WARS

Florida’s problems now belonged to the United States. The biggest problem remained the Indians. There was increased pressure to remove the Florida Indians, who posed a war threat and were in the way of settlers who wanted the land. The Seminoles continued to give sanctuary to runaway slaves, and there were frequent fights with the settlers.

In 1823, territorial governor William DuVal met with Indian chiefs and forced them to sign a treaty, giving up their valuable land in north Florida and moving to central Florida, where the land was not as good.

The election of Andrew Jackson as president doomed the Indians. Jackson had been waging war on the Indians for years, and now as president, he launched a policy of Indian removal. He wanted the Indians removed to the West—to Oklahoma—offering them vast lands if they would leave Florida. In 1832, the Treaty of Payne’s Landing was approved, although it has remained the source of controversy ever since. Some Seminoles left for Oklahoma, but others remained, ready to fight to defend their land.

In 1835, the United States gave up on asking the Indians to move and turned to force. Troops arrived for what became the Second Seminole War.

Within months, the first major battle was fought. Two companies commanded by Major Francis Dade left Fort Brooke (now Tampa) and began marching to Fort King (Ocala). Dade knew that the Indians were nearby but convinced himself that there would be no attack. He went so far as to recall his scouts, who were slowing down the march. The Indians had not dropped the idea of an attack; they were waiting for their chief, Osceola, to arrive.
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Chief Osceola led the Seminole Indians during the Second Seminole War before he was tricked into surrendering and died in captivity. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.




THE DOGS WHO FOUND A GENERAL

Over the past two centuries, the federal government has managed to waste plenty of money. But one of the earliest boondoggles occurred in 1835 as the government tried to round up thousands of Seminole Indians in Florida and force them to move to Oklahoma. Some went, but many resisted. The Indians could vanish into the woods and swamps. Territory officials came up with what they thought was a great idea: they would use bloodhounds to track down the Indians.

Unfortunately, there were no bloodhounds in Florida—the closest ones were in Cuba. The dogs were ordered at a cost of $151.72 each—about $4,000 today. Immediately, officials in Washington began to question the deal. How could the dogs know if they were on the trail of an Indian or a soldier?

When the dogs arrived, the second problem became obvious. The dogs had been trained to respond to orders given in Spanish. So, Spanish trainers had to be imported from Cuba.

It turned out the dogs needed a special, and very expensive, diet: meat from young calves. The soldiers quickly noted that the dogs were eating better than they were. The dogs had another advantage over the soldiers. The dogs were not fond of walking and had to be carried on horseback while the soldiers walked alongside.

The whole thing was a fiasco. When the dogs were turned loose, they tracked down not the Indians but General Zachary Taylor, the commander of the American soldiers in Florida and a future president of the United States.

To add insult to injury, the territorial legislature sent Taylor a bill for $2,429.52, but Taylor refused to pay, pointing out that the only person the dogs found was him. The bill was never paid.



Osceola had not reached the battle because he was occupied a few miles away killing the hated Indian agent Wiley Thompson. The Indians finally stopped waiting and attacked. The 180 Seminoles attacked twenty-five miles from Fort King. Dade, on horseback, was shot and killed first, and dozens of other soldiers fell. The soldiers were wearing heavy winter coats, and by the time they got their rifles ready to fire, most had been shot.

One of the Indians said the soldiers had guns but no powder. When the battle was over, the Indians stripped the dead and killed the wounded. Just three soldiers survived, including one who was covered by dead bodies. But that soldier, Edward de Courcey, was shot and killed the next day. Ransome Clarke, who appeared to be dead with five wounds, left the only written account of the battle.

More attacks by the Indians followed, with plantations being burned. The Florida battles were the dominant news story throughout the nation—at least until replaced by news of the Battle of the Alamo several months later.

The Indians conducted a guerrilla war, attacking and then fading into the forests and swamps. Students at West Point studied the Indians’ tactics, and the army would later encounter the same tactics in Vietnam. The war dragged on to 1842. Although the Indians fought valiantly and scored some impressive wins, they could not sustain the war. Most of the Indians were captured and forced to move west. The remainder, probably a few hundred, escaped into the Everglades, where they would make new lives. There were 1,500 soldiers killed.

The Seminole Wars gave dozens of soldiers their first taste of command, although most of them failed to defeat the Indians. The most famous was General Zachary Taylor, who later became president, although he earned his fame in the Mexican-American War.

One of the most unusual events of the Second Seminole War was the capture of Chief Coacoochee and nineteen of his braves. The chief had already obtained a degree of fame in the fight against the army. At one point, he attacked a group of Shakespearean actors touring the territory. When he met with General W.J. Worth, he came dressed as Hamlet while his aide was dressed as Richard III.

When he arrived at Fort Marion—then the name of the giant fort at St. Augustine—he and his men were placed in a room with a small window fifteen feet above the floor. Outside the window, there was a twenty-eight-foot drop to a moat below. The Indians spent weeks tearing their clothing into strips—the Shakespeare costumes came in handy. Somehow, Coacoochee was able to escape with his men. The window was still difficult to squeeze through, and the chief said, “The sharp stones took the skin off my breast and back.” Blood covered a few of the Indians.

Once they were out, the finger-pointing began to determine who was responsible. Military officials said the bars had become corroded and were easy to break.

The chief was able to unite the Indians and continue the war. But as American military might came to bear, the Indians were captured or killed. In 1841, Coacoochee and three hundred of his Indians surrendered and were moved west.


SEMINOLES: FROM POVERTY TO BILLIONAIRES

When the Seminole Indians purchased the Hard Rock casinos and restaurants for more than $1 billion, it was a remarkable feat—signaling growth from among the poorest in the nation to a tribe that could write a billion-dollar check. What made the transition all the more remarkable was that it took place by accident, the unintended consequences of a move by the federal government.

The story begins in 1934, when Congress passed the Indian Reorganization Act, an obscure law passed among hundreds by the Roosevelt administration as part of the New Deal. The law contained an unusual provision: it would go into effect unless an Indian tribe voted not to be governed by it.

The Indians, who had frequently been victimized by the United States government, wanted no part of the new law. All over the nation, tribal leaders urged their members to boycott the election.

In Florida, there were nearly five hundred Seminole Indians who were eligible to vote, but on election day, just twenty-one cast ballots. All twenty-one voted for the law, and the government considered it passed.

The law included improved health services and better educational opportunities. But there were also more obscure provisions that seemed largely unimportant at the time. The law allowed for self-governance and exempted the Indians from paying state and local taxes.

The Indians did their best to ignore the new law until 1957, when they created their own government. Their assets included 200,000 acres of Florida land, but much of it was under water. Despite the increasing wealth all around them, the Seminoles remained poor.

It was not until the 1970s that they began to take advantage of the tax exception provisions, selling cut-rate cigarettes. State officials challenged the Indians, claiming that the smoke sales were illegal. But the federal courts upheld the rights of the Indians.

In 1979, the Seminoles expanded their empire by adding high-stakes bingo games. Small-time bingo was a staple of Florida churches and civic groups. Under state law, the top prize was $250. But the Indians offered a top prize of $10,000 and even threw in new cars. There was no way the small-time church bingo games could compete.

Again, officials challenged the Indians, claiming the bingo games were illegal. But again, the federal courts ruled the Indians were within their rights.

The law they didn’t want turned out to be the financial salvation for the Seminoles.
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STATEHOOD FOR FLORIDA

To become a state, Florida needed to achieve a minimum population, write a constitution and be approved by Congress. It took two decades for Florida to reach the minimum population, but by the 1840s, there also was an unwritten requirement. There was a continuing battle to keep a balance between slave states and free states in the Union. The population of the northern states was growing faster than that of the southern states, giving the North control in the House of Representatives. But as long as the South had equal power in the Senate, the slaveholders could block legislation they did not like.

So, the goal became to pair the admission of states—admitting one free and one slave to keep the balance. As it turned out, Iowa was also ready to be admitted, and the plan became to admit Florida and Iowa as a pair. Some in Florida still hoped that Florida would become two states—East Florida and West Florida—but that would mean waiting for two northern states and obtaining enough people in both states.

There was one other problem: small but vocal opposition to Florida becoming a state. John Randolph had, as a congressman, opposed buying Florida in 1821. He had now moved to the Senate, but his opposition remained strong. He called Florida “a land of swamps, of quagmires, of frogs, and alligators.” He predicted, “No one would want to immigrate there, even from Hell.”

The legislation went to the president, John Tyler, a southerner who was very interested in the South maintaining power—he would later serve in the Confederate Congress. In the final hours of his administration, he signed the law, making Florida the twenty-seventh state.

It took five days for the news of statehood to reach Tallahassee. There were wild celebrations as cannons were fired and church bells rang. By then, there were three log cabins making up the state capitol. After statehood, a two-story masonry building was built, a total of two thousand square feet to serve a state with nearly sixty thousand people—half of them slaves.


ON THE VERGE OF GREATNESS

Dr. John Gorrie could have gone down in the history books as one of the greatest medical minds in history and an inventor on the same level as Edison. Instead, he died in poverty and nearly forgotten.

In 1833, Gorrie established his medical practice in Apalachicola, where he encountered a widespread medical condition: yellow fever. He did not know that the disease was related to the mosquitoes, but he did believe that the hot weather played a role, and if he could provide patients with cool air, the disease might improve. He put together a crude system that forced air over blocks of ice suspended from the ceiling.
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John Gorrie died broke and forgotten even though he was close to solving one of the greatest mysteries of the nineteenth century: the cause of yellow fever. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



His system cooled the room, but he faced a major problem: getting the ice. Ice was harvested in large blocks during the winter months in the North. Getting it to Florida was difficult and expensive. He went to work on a machine that would make ice, and within a year, he could make ice and cool the rooms in his small hospital.

A machine that would make ice and cool rooms should have swept the country. Instead, Gorrie was widely mocked. Newspapers questioned whether his invention was for real and called him a crank. Ice harvesters, a huge industry in the North, saw Gorrie as a threat and organized a campaign to discredit him. It worked.

His financial backer died, and Gorrie was soon broke, putting every nickel he had into his invention.

He even adopted a false name because his name had become a punchline. He became a hermit and died in obscurity at the age of fifty-two. The State of Florida did recognize his greatness, placing his statue in the United States Capitol.



In May, elections were held, and William Moseley became the first governor, sworn in under a flag with the inscription “Let Us Alone.” The flag quickly disappeared; people feared that it would send the wrong message to the rest of the nation.

David Levy went to the United States Senate, the first Jewish member of the Senate and the son of a man who came to Florida to create a Jewish refuge. Levy later changed his name, adopting a family name and becoming David Levy Yulee. Historians dispute why he changed his name. Yulee has two places in Florida named for him, a city called Yulee and a county named Levy. He is not alone: Hernando de Soto also has two counties named for him, Hernando County and DeSoto County.

In the Senate, Yulee pushed for the annexation of Cuba to the United States and was one of the earliest members of the Senate to call for Florida to leave the Union. In 1861, Yulee got his wish, leaving the Senate to join the Confederacy.

The first problem facing the new governor was an old border dispute with Georgia. It took years to determine the final line between the two states, and the final border wasn’t settled until February 8, 1861. What was strange was that Florida and Georgia had joined the Confederacy by then.


THE PENCIL CAPITAL OF THE NATION

It is difficult to name a town that has had more bad luck than Cedar Key. Repeatedly, the town suffered natural disasters, man-made disasters and even an invasion.

Cedar Key is a village on the Gulf of Mexico located where the Florida peninsula turns into the panhandle. Today, it has a population of fewer than one thousand, about the same as it had nearly 170 years ago. It began as a summer resort in the 1840s. The fishing was excellent, and soon commercial fishermen were attracted to the area.

But it was the trees that were the main attraction. The trees were perfect for making pencils, and two of the biggest pencil-makers, Eberhard Faber and Eagle Pencil, set up mills and began cutting down thousands of trees. No effort was made to reforest, and the result was that the magnificent trees began to disappear.

Then, in 1860, came Florida’s first railroad, connecting Cedar Key to Fernandina near Jacksonville. Lumber could move from Cedar Key to the port at Fernandina and then to factories in the North.

The railroad was completed just as the Civil War began. The Union ship Hatteras attacked in 1862, burning ships loaded with cotton and destroying portions of the railroad. Cedar Key had also become important for making salt, a vital need for the Confederacy, and in the same year, a Union raid destroyed a large salt-making plant. The Union troops finally occupied Cedar Key in 1864.

After the war, the town made something of a comeback. Eberhard Faber and Eagle Pencil returned, the railroad was repaired and it looked like the town was coming back.

In 1886, railroad service opened to Tampa, reducing the importance of Cedar Key. In 1896, a hurricane all but destroyed the town and killed about one hundred of the five hundred residents. The mills and many of the remaining trees were destroyed. Three months after the storm struck, a fire damaged much of what was left of the town.

Oyster beds held out some hope for the town, but by 1909, they were exhausted. In 1950, another hurricane struck and destroyed two-thirds of the town. The lighthouse was abandoned in 1952. Another hurricane in 1985 did more damage.

Today, clams and tourism support the tiny town.



STATEHOOD FOR FLORIDA

Statehood meant that vast amounts of federal land transferred to the state. The state could sell the land and use that money to build railroads, schools or other improvement projects. But some land the state coveted was occupied by the remaining Indians. The state and federal governments joined to drive the Indians from Florida. The army reactivated a fort in southwest Florida, changing the name from Fort Harvie to Fort Myers. The naming of the fort was something of a wedding present for Colonel Abraham Myers, the fiancé of the daughter of the commanding officer of Fort Brooke in Tampa.

The increased military presence and the pressure on the Indians led to the Third Seminole War in 1855. It dragged on for three years, and many of the remaining Indians moved to Oklahoma. In 1859, more Seminoles—about seventy-five—surrendered and were shipped west. There were thought to be about four hundred Seminoles left in Florida, hiding out in the Everglades.
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LEAVING THE UNION

While Florida was still dealing with the Indians, the other southern states were becoming alarmed about the approaching 1860 election. The Republican Party fielded its first presidential candidate, John C. Frémont, in 1856.

The Democratic candidate, James Buchanan, won the election but took only 45 percent of the popular vote. Buchanan, a friend of the South, was the last Democrat elected for the next twenty-four years. The Buchanan election was a wake-up call for the South. Buchanan’s election was so close that a shift of thirty thousand votes in two states would have made Frémont president. And Buchanan had a huge advantage: the southern states, including Florida, did not even put Frémont on the ballot.

As the 1860 election approached, the South worried that a Republican victory would spell the end for slavery and the plantation way of life. Increasing division was evident within the Democratic Party.

The Democratic convention was in Charleston, South Carolina, the center of proslavery fever. The leading candidate was Senator Stephen Douglas, considered a moderate on slavery. The southern Democrats wanted a fire-eating proslavery nominee. Florida and the other Deep South states walked out of the convention, which fell into disarray. The convention was unable to nominate a candidate and met six weeks later in Baltimore to nominate Douglas.

The Southern Democrats met separately in Baltimore and nominated Vice President John C. Breckinridge as president. But the Democrats were not through subdividing. The Constitutional Union Party nominated John Bell of Kentucky.
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Many people, including President Lincoln, thought the Civil War would begin in Pensacola. Shots were fired at Pensacola, but Fort Sumter was where the war began. The Union fort in Pensacola remained in Union hands throughout the war. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



With the Democrats in disarray, Lincoln’s election was ensured. Lincoln was not on the Florida ballot. Voters could vote for Douglas, but he received just 223 votes, while Breckinridge easily carried the state with more than 8,000 votes.

Lincoln would not even take office until March, but the southern states were not going to wait to see what he might do. South Carolina was the first to leave the Union, and Florida was the third. The vote to leave the Union was overwhelming, and the reason was simple. Although slave owners were a small minority of the total population, they constituted fifty-eight of the sixty-nine delegates to the convention. The move to leave the Union was led by Governor Madison Starke Perry, while the state’s two senators, David Levy Yulee and Stephen Mallory, were hesitant about secession. Yulee supported the idea of secession but wanted to wait and see what happened before leaving the Union. Former governor Richard Keith Call and Judge William Marvin of Key West urged Floridians to stay in the Union. Perry was so certain of the outcome of the secession vote that he didn’t wait for the vote—he just ordered the militia to capture the Union arsenal at Chattahoochee and the forts in Florida.

Forts in St. Augustine and Fernandina were seized, but Fort Taylor in Key West was guarded by Union ships, and Pensacola was heavily defended.

The proslavery delegates to Florida’s secession convention made their views clear in their decree:

A President has recently been elected, an obscure and illiterate man without experience in public affairs or any general reputation mainly if not exclusively on account of a settled and often proclaimed hostility to our institutions and a fixed purpose to abolish them.

Technically, Florida was an independent nation for one month before the formation of the Confederate States of America.

When the war began, Florida was the smallest state in the Confederacy, with a population of 140,000, of which 44 percent were slaves. There were just 1,000 free African Americans. Its location also meant that it would not play a crucial role in the fighting.

Florida was dismissed as a factor in the war. A New York newspaper wrote that Florida was “the smallest tadpole in the dirty pool of secession.” But Florida sent more soldiers to the war per capita than any other state. Some fifteen thousand soldiers went to fight, and a third of them did not return, buried in cemeteries from Atlanta to Gettysburg. Still, that was just 3 percent of the total number of soldiers who fought for the South.

Many thought the Civil War would begin in Florida instead of at Fort Sumter in Charleston Harbor. Pensacola seemed to be where the fighting would begin. Federal forces defended Fort Barrancas, and just before midnight on January 8, 1861—two days before Florida voted to leave the Union—a group of armed soldiers approached the fort. The Union soldiers opened fire, and the Southerners withdrew. Technically, the first shots of the Civil War were fired at Pensacola.

Forts Barrancas and nearby McRee were difficult to defend, and the Union soldiers decided to abandon them. On January 12, the new Confederates from Alabama and Florida captured the navy yard and the two forts.


THE FIFTY-FOURTH PREVENTS A ROUT AT OLUSTEE

The movie Glory captures the heroism of the Fifty-fourth Massachusetts regiment, the African American unit in the Civil War. The regiment fought in a number of battles, including the ill-fated Battle of Olustee in north Florida in 1864.

In early February, Union troops, including the Fifty-fourth, steamed toward Jacksonville. Along the coast, snipers opened fire on the ships. Two weeks later, they headed toward Lake City and a battle with the Confederate troops. The Fifty-fourth had five hundred soldiers and thirteen officers; they were commanded by whites.

The Union commanders executed a miserable battle plan, and by afternoon, it was clear the Union troops were losing. White soldiers began to flee the battlefield in panic, leaving the Fifty-fourth to cover their retreat. By late afternoon, the Fifty-fourth was the only unit still fighting. The men had fired twenty thousand cartridges and were running out of ammunition. When no more ammunition came, the Fifty-fourth began to fall back as darkness fell.
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Olustee was Florida’s only major battle. Conceived by President Lincoln as a way to get Florida back into the Union, it turned into a major disaster for the North. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



They tried some trickery, stopping at one point to cheer in an effort to convince the Confederates that reinforcements had arrived. Eighty-six members of the Fifty-fourth were killed or wounded, most of their equipment was gone and nearly half were without shoes.

Despite the valor, their work was not done. There were 1,500 Union soldiers who were killed and wounded. The dead and wounded were loaded on a train for the trip back to Jacksonville, but the train broke down. The men of the Fifty-fourth were tied to the train and forced to pull it to the next stop.

After the war, a congressional committee investigated the fate of black soldiers in battles and found that African American soldiers who were wounded or surrendered were killed by Confederates. Members of the Fifty-fourth said they heard shots and screams from the battlefield after they withdrew.



The Confederates demanded that Fort Pickens surrender. On March 12, Lincoln reinforced the fort, and more troops arrived in April. The Union troops still held Fort Pickens and had two warships in the harbor.

To obtain a delay, the Union soldiers asked for a day to think it over. It was not until October that Confederate troops attacked the fort but were repulsed. The Confederate attacks might have continued, but the South was soon having problems elsewhere and needed the Pensacola troops to defend Tennessee. They abandoned the city, and Fort Pickens remained in Union hands throughout the war.

Florida did not play an important military role, but it did play a role, providing beef and salt to the army. Early in the war, the army’s beef came primarily from Texas. But after the fall of Vicksburg, the Union controlled the Mississippi, which cut off the supply of beef.

The Confederacy turned to Florida and its large supply of cattle. The Florida cattlemen had grown rich, often selling their cows in Cuba. As the Confederacy declined, its financial situation grew worse. The cows brought gold doubloons in Cuba, but the Confederacy was out of gold and paying in paper money that was losing value every day. Sometimes, there was not even paper money, just a slip of paper acknowledging receipt of the cows and promising payment at some future date. In Cuba, cows were sold for thirty dollars in gold, while the Confederacy paid three dollars in paper money.

The cattlemen began hiding their cows, taking them to southwest Florida and out of reach of Confederate quartermasters. Some of the cattlemen found a new market for their cows, selling them to the Union, which could pay Union money.

The state also produced salt in plants along the coast. The salt was made from seawater and shipped north. It is impossible to overstate the importance of salt. It was used for everything from curing beef for the soldiers to making their boots. The small saltworks boiled the water and removed the salt. Anyone with a large pot and a match could enter the salt business. The coastal salt plants were easy targets for Union ships that struck along the coast. The Union ships sent sailors ashore to destroy the plants, but they could quickly be reassembled and back in action within hours.

The Confederacy desperately needed troops outside of Florida, so the state had little in the way of defense. Fort Myers fell to the Union, as did St. Augustine. Jacksonville was a key Confederate port at the beginning of the war, but in October 1862, Union forces seized the city. The Union troops could not hold it, and it went back and forth several times.

Union ships were along the coast, creating a blockade that kept desperately needed supplies from reaching the people. Early in the war, stores emptied out, and nearly every family was hurt. Prices soared—flour to $350 a barrel and woolen cloth to $85 a yard.

At the beginning of 1864, Abraham Lincoln believed he would lose the November election. The war had dragged on, and many in the North simply wanted it to end. There had been major victories at Vicksburg and Gettysburg in 1863, but still, the mood of the nation was grim. Lincoln could look at a map and see the challenges he faced.

He thought he needed more electoral votes and came up with a scheme: get Florida back in the Union and win its three electoral votes. Every vote would help. The Union controlled Jacksonville and some other key cities, including Key West, Fort Myers and St. Augustine. Establishing a new state government would make his idea a reality.

Lincoln’s generals knew that capturing Florida was worthless from a military point of view, and so he worked around the military. In February 1864, troops in Hilton Head, South Carolina, were ordered to go to Florida, supposedly to cut Confederate supply lines and recruit black soldiers. The 5,500 Union soldiers landed at Jacksonville under the command of General Truman Seymour, who was under orders not to advance too far inland.

Confederate leaders in Charleston heard of the troop movement and correctly guessed that the Hilton Head soldiers were headed for Florida. Confederate troops in Georgia were sent south to help the Florida soldiers. Seymour, perhaps seeing glory in capturing Tallahassee, ignored his orders and moved inland.

On February 20, Seymour encountered Confederate troops near Olustee in north Florida. He made a mistake; he thought he was facing unreliable Florida militia troops, like the small groups he had easily defeated after landing in Jacksonville. He did not know he was also facing battle-hardened Georgia soldiers. The Union forces attacked the five thousand Confederate troops dug in behind fortifications.

Throughout the afternoon, the battle raged, and when the Confederate forces gained the advantage, the Union soldiers began retreating. Soon the retreat turned into a rout, with Union soldiers throwing their guns and packs away and running toward Jacksonville.

Confederate general Joseph Finnegan had won a major victory but could not capitalize on it. Most of the Union troops made their way to Jacksonville. The Union losses were staggering: 203 killed, 1,152 wounded and 506 missing, a whopping 34 percent of those who fought. The Confederate losses were half the Union’s, with just 93 killed, 847 wounded and 6 missing. In terms of the percentage of Union troops killed and wounded, it was the second bloodiest battle of the war.

Some of the soldiers who had seen major battles before said it was the worst fighting they had ever seen. Lincoln abandoned his plan, and Tallahassee remained the only southern capital east of the Mississippi not captured by the Union.

By 1865, it was clear to nearly everyone that the South was on the verge of losing the war. In Florida, hopes were relatively high. Although the North held key ports, the South had won the only two battles in Florida: Olustee and Natural Bridge.

Increasingly, there were conflicts between President Jefferson Davis and Governor John Milton. Davis wanted Florida to send more troops to defend Richmond, while Milton wanted them to stay home to defend the state.

Milton and his wife went to their farm in Marianna, and while they were there, some Confederate deserters invaded Tallahassee as part of a plot to kidnap the governor. Deserters had been a problem in Florida since 1862. The state was largely empty and a perfect place for deserters to hide out.

Bands of deserters roamed through north Florida, raiding plantations at will, and in southwest Florida, they were able to control the region. When deserters learned of Milton’s plans to leave, they waited outside the city to capture him and turn him over to a Union ship in the Gulf of Mexico. Milton learned of the plans and canceled his trip. But the knowledge that the war was nearly over and that the cause was lost affected him. Milton went to his mansion and committed suicide.

The Confederate government fled Richmond in early April and headed south, led by Jefferson Davis and the members of his cabinet. As they approached Florida, Union troops were in pursuit, encouraged by the offer of a large reward.

Two members of the cabinet, Judah P. Benjamin and John C. Breckinridge, decided to strike out on their own shortly before Davis was captured near the Florida-Georgia line. Breckinridge made his way into Florida, sleeping on the floors of taverns in Gainesville and Live Oak. He and his companions purchased a boat for the trip up the St. Johns. They were plagued by mosquitoes and had to sleep in the middle of the river in an attempt to avoid them. They had to haul their boats overland to Cape Canaveral and then down the East Coast.

Their boat was not seaworthy, so Benjamin, the former vice president of the United States, became a pirate. He seized a boat and made his way to Cuba.

Benjamin made his way to the west coast of Florida and arranged for a boat to take him to Cuba. He encountered a violent storm and had to return to Florida. A second try was successful, and after arriving in Cuba, he headed for Europe.


LOVEABLE, SWEET AND KIND

John Wilkes Booth knew that he would need help for his scheme. When he arrived in Washington in the final weeks of the Civil War in 1865, he planned to kidnap President Abraham Lincoln and hold him for ransom—the payoff being the surrender of the Union.

He checked into the Washington boardinghouse owned by Mary Surratt. It was a hornet’s nest of Confederate supporters. One of the boarders was Lewis Powell, who had come to the house after a journey that began in Live Oak, Florida.

Booth’s sister described him as “loveable, sweet, and kind.” The neighbors thought he was tenderhearted. His father thought his son might join him in the ministry.

Powell joined the Confederate army in 1861, serving loyally until he was wounded and captured at Gettysburg. He escaped from the hospital and rejoined the Confederates in Virginia.

As the war came to a close in 1865, he deserted, crossing the lines into Maryland and taking an oath of loyalty to the Union. In Baltimore, he was introduced to John Wilkes Booth, who told him of the plot to kidnap the president.

Booth saw the tall and brawny Powell as a strong man of limited intelligence who could be easily manipulated. When the kidnapping plot failed, the plan turned to assassination. Booth extended his plan to include Secretary of State William Seward and Vice President Andrew Johnson. Powell was assigned the task of killing Seward.

On the night of April 14, Booth went to Ford’s Theater, while Powell headed for Seward’s house. He pretended to be delivering medicine for Seward, who had been seriously injured in a carriage accident. When the butler answered the door, Powell said he had to deliver the medicine personally, but the butler said no.

Finally, Powell pushed the man aside and climbed the stairs to Seward’s bedroom. Seward was nearly asleep when Powell burst into the room and tried to stab him. Seward moved, and the knife grazed his neck. Seward’s son entered the room, and Powell left through a window. He was later arrested.

Seward recovered, and Powell was put on trial with the other conspirators, except for Booth, who was killed. On July 7, less than three months after the assassination, Powell was hanged.

In Live Oak, Powell’s father heard of his son’s arrest and headed to Washington. He only got as far as Jacksonville when he heard that his son was dead. He returned to Live Oak but was now the notorious father of Lewis Powell. He decided to move to a nearly deserted area north of Orlando.

Lewis Powell was buried in an unmarked grave in the Washington prison. His family began a campaign to have his body moved from Washington to a family plot near the town of Geneva. It took nearly 130 years, but finally, what could be found of his body was reburied in the tiny community of Geneva.
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PUTTING FLORIDA BACK TOGETHER

The war in Florida might have ended, but the legacy remained for generations. While nearly five thousand Florida soldiers did not come home, thousands of others returned with serious wounds. The state’s economic system was in ruins. The Confederate money was nearly worthless in the final days of the war, and now it had no value. The slaves, who had been worth millions of dollars to the plantation owners four years earlier, now were free.

Very briefly, there was a plan by the War Department to create a Negro Territory, similar to the Indian Territory set aside in Oklahoma. The proposed land was virtually empty, stretching from Ocala to Miami.

In some ways, Florida was in better shape than the other southern states. Fighting had not caused widespread damage, and the state still had working ports and hundreds of thousands of acres of trees to feed a national demand for lumber. The problem was that Floridians were broke. Into the void stepped hundreds of northerners who came to Florida to make their fortunes. Some African Americans came from the North to help the former slaves adjust to freedom and teach them to read and write. But the majority of the new arrivals were businessmen who flocked to Jacksonville, bought lumber land and established sawmills.

The legislature, controlled by former Confederates, joined other southern states to pass the Black Codes, which sharply limited the rights of the former slaves, almost returning them to a state of slavery. The codes had a strong vagrancy provision: unemployed slaves could be arrested and sentenced to work on plantations, often for their former masters. Technically, slaves who left the plantation were immediately considered unemployed and, therefore, could be arrested.

The former slaves could not own guns or testify in cases involving white defendants. And the slaves had little protection from the law. A man convicted of killing a former slave was fined $225 and sentenced to one minute in jail.

There was even significant resistance to freeing the slaves. Four months after the end of the war, a Gainesville newspaper reported, “There are quite a number of persons who seem to hope that the next Congress will reestablish slavery. Their hopes for future happiness and prosperity are wrapped up in this idea.”


JUNO: THE FORGOTTEN CITY

At one time, Dade County stretched from Key West to Fort Lauderdale, a sprawling county with very few people. The first county seat was in Indian Key; later it moved to Miami.

In 1888, the people in the northern part of the county thought they were not getting enough services and asked for an election to move the county seat. To everyone’s surprise, the election moved the county seat to the tiny town of Juno in present-day Palm Beach County. Juno was near Jupiter—in mythology, Juno and Jupiter are married—and connected by the Celestial Railroad. There was also a town called Mars.

A courthouse was built, a newspaper launched and businesses opened. When Henry Flagler built his railroad connecting Miami and Jacksonville, he bypassed Juno, which sealed the fate of the small town.

The vote to move the county seat was an experiment; the voters had agreed to move it for just ten years. When the ten years were up, the county seat moved back to Miami with hardly a word of protest. The town property became worthless, the newspaper stopped publishing, the hotel and saloon were abandoned and the jungle moved in, reclaiming the area.

What was left burned down.

Palm Beach County and Broward County broke off from Dade County, but nobody suggested that Juno become the county seat of the new Palm Beach County.

Mars also disappeared, but Jupiter survived, becoming an exclusive resort for the wealthy.
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Richard Nixon and Jackie Gleason wore sports coats as they played golf in Miami. Gleason broadcast his CBS television show from Miami Beach, bringing the beach much-needed attention. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



But the days of the former Confederates in power were numbered. The governor’s office needed a revolving door in the years immediately after the war. After Milton’s suicide, Abraham Allison became governor for six weeks, until he fled as Union troops moved in.

William Marvin, who had opposed secession in 1861, took over for five months until elected to the U.S. Senate. Next came David Walker, who managed to serve for three years. Walker believed that the Civil War was not over, and the Confederates were still in charge.

As Congress assumed control of the Reconstruction process, the Republicans gained power in the state. Harrison Reed, a Massachusetts native, came to Florida in 1863 as Lincoln’s appointee as tax commissioner, dealing with Confederate property. But the Democrats were not about to take their reduced status in stride, and there were two efforts to remove him. His lieutenant governor, William Gleason, proclaimed himself governor, and another lieutenant governor, Samuel Day, claimed to be acting governor. Both attempts failed.


A POLITICAL DEAL PRODUCES A NOVEL

It sounds like the perfect job. A position without much work and lots of spare time. But how could someone find a job like that?

The story began in 1876 when Samuel Tilden and Rutherford Hayes squared off in the presidential election. The Republicans had held the White House for sixteen years, beginning with Abraham Lincoln. For some of those years, former Confederates were not eligible to vote, giving an advantage to the Republicans. By 1876, nearly all of the voting restrictions had been removed, and the Democrats had a chance to reclaim the White House.

On election night, the Democrat, Tilden, held a wide lead in the popular vote and 184 of the 185 electoral votes he needed to win the presidency. Three states had not reported, including Florida. The Republicans were ready to give up, but a Hayes aide saw a chance. The party would have to do everything to win all three of the states and keep the White House.

Florida was the key state—the one the Republicans desperately needed—and the toughest one to get. The Republicans dispatched operatives to Florida to do whatever was needed to win the election, whether it was legal or illegal. Their lead operative was Lew Wallace, an Indiana attorney who wanted to be a famous novelist.

Wallace arrived in Florida and went to work. He helped bribe local election officials, often with promises of jobs in the new administration. It worked, and the Republicans held the White House.

Now, it was time for the party to reward Wallace. What job did he want?

His payoff seems small time, considering all he had done for the party. He was named territorial governor of New Mexico, a relatively insignificant post. The population was only about 100,000. But it was just what Wallace wanted; it gave him plenty of time to write.

The result was the classic novel Ben Hur, which became an Academy Award–winning movie. One of the millions of people who read Ben Hur was James A. Garfield, who was elected president in 1880, the same year the book was published. Garfield thought Wallace might like to write a book about Turkey and named him ambassador to Turkey. It inspired him to write The Prince of India.



Reed was replaced by Ossian Hart, who died in office and was replaced by Marcellus Stearns.

African Americans won political office in Florida. One of the most interesting stories involves John Menard, who became the first African American elected to Congress. Menard was elected to Congress from Louisiana but was denied his seat. He moved to Florida and in 1873 won a seat in the U.S. House of Representatives. The following year, he did not seek reelection, realizing he could not win. Unable to find work after the end of Reconstruction, he was only able to get a job as a night watchman in the Post Office Department. He died in obscurity.

The most prominent African American to gain office was Jonathan Gibbs, who served as secretary of state and superintendent of public instruction. Gibbs came to Florida from Philadelphia at the end of the war to help the former slaves. He oversaw the integration of Florida schools, which did not last, and was becoming a power in the state when he died mysteriously.

Another African American, Josiah Walls, served three turbulent terms, each of which was constantly challenged. Twice, his fellow House members voted to expel him from the House. With the end of Reconstruction, he faded from public view, and when he died, not a single newspaper carried his obituary.

The 1876 presidential election determined the fate of Reconstruction. By then, the Democrats were ready to retake the state, but federal troops remained in Florida. The Democrats nominated Samuel Tilden, and the Republicans, Rutherford B. Hayes. On election night, Tilden was far ahead in the popular vote and had 184 electoral votes, just 1 short of victory.


FLORIDA, THE LAST FRONTIER

When people think of the frontier, places such as Wyoming, Arizona or Colorado come to mind. But according to the population figures of the Census Bureau, the final frontier in the continental United States was in southwest Florida. And when people think of the frontier they think of cowboys, cattle drives and shootouts. Indeed, all those things happened in southwest Florida in the late 1800s.

In 1895, the famous western artist Frederick Remington was sent to Florida to write a story on Florida cowboys by Harper’s Weekly, the nation’s leading magazine. The West that Remington wrote about was fading. The railroads crisscrossed the plains, reducing the need for cattle drives, and gunfights and Indian wars were coming to an end.
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The great western artist Frederick Remington came to Florida for Harper’s Weekly to report on Florida’s cowboys. What he found did not impress him. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



But in southwest Florida, the cattle drives continued, and there were still rustlers and murders. In one case, a cattle rustler was found dead over a dead steer. A coroner’s jury ruled that the rustler had died when he fell on the steer’s horns.

Remington came to Florida with his friend Owen Wister, the author of the classic book The Virginian. But he was disappointed in what he found: “The cowboys were slovenly, drunken, dishonest, and unromantic. They used shotguns instead of rifles or six-guns, wore farmers’ shoes instead of boots, and refused to carry lariats.”

Remington said they had “hanging hair and drooping hats and [their] generally bedraggled appearance would remind you at once of the Spanish moss that hangs so quietly.” They did have some things in common with western cowboys, namely how they’d “get drunk in about 15 minutes.”

Remington returned several times, and while he was not impressed by the cowboys, he did like the duck hunting. “Ducks down there are confiding birds, and a boat loaded with girls, and grub and scotch whiskey and soda can be sailed right up to them while the sportsman empties his shot-gun and fills his game bag.”



Three states, including Florida, were in dispute—Democrats said Tilden had won the state; Republicans claimed Hayes carried the state. Operatives from both parties came into the state, trying to influence the outcome, sometimes with bribes and promises of jobs.

In the end, a special committee named Hayes the winner and held that Florida had voted for him. The decision was part of a deal to support Hayes in exchange for ending Reconstruction.

The Democrats retook the governorship and held it for nearly a century.


REMEMBERING HIS HOMETOWN

Florida is a state of Spanish and Indian names. One notable exception is St. Petersburg on the Gulf of Mexico. The story begins in Russia, where Piotr Dementief was a member of the Imperial Russian Guard. When his boss, the czar, was assassinated, Dementief fled to the United States, fearing he might be implicated.

He changed his name to Peter Demens and settled in Sanford. He opened a lumber mill and sold wooden ties to the Orange Belt Railroad. He ended up owning the little railroad and began dreaming of extending his rail line to the Gulf of Mexico. He overcame tremendous obstacles, but in 1888, his railroad reached the Gulf. He named the end of the line St. Petersburg, after the Russian city.

The problem for Demens was that there wasn’t enough freight to support his line, and after a year, it was taken over by the creditors. Demens left the city he had named and moved to California, where he became a newspaper reporter.
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THE FIRST TOURISTS

By the late 1800s, the tourists had begun arriving in Florida. In 1888, Jacksonville hosted the Subtropical Exposition, a sort of local version of a world’s fair, which drew thousands of people, including President Grover Cleveland. Jacksonville had become a major tourist destination. Doctors all over the country sent their patients to Florida to recover from a wide range of ailments, primarily consumption. It was a catch-all term for a variety of ailments, including tuberculosis.

Florida’s first hotel, Florida House, opened in St. Augustine in 1835. Nature was the draw—the springs, the flowers and the warm weather. A century and a half later, fantasy would attract visitors.

The first attraction was Silver Springs, near Ocala. Beginning before the Civil War, visitors came to enjoy the waters. Before the Civil War, the water was crystal clear. After the Civil War, steamboats began bringing in the visitors by the thousands. A hotel was built in the 1880s, and residents began renting rowboats to visitors for excursions on the water.

What made the springs unique were the glass-bottom boats. How they developed is in dispute, but they appeared around 1880 and allowed tourists to see the fish swimming beneath the boat. They became world famous, and in 1966, there was a movie titled The Glass Bottom Boat, starring Doris Day and Rod Taylor.

A Tarzan movie was filmed there in the 1930s, and other movies followed. The television series Sea Hunt was also filmed there. The simple attraction could not stand the competition from the major theme parks, and in 1993, the State of Florida purchased the springs.
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John D. Rockefeller and his partner Henry Flagler made their fortunes in oil—fortunes so vast it made them two of the wealthiest men in the world. When Flagler began developing hotels in Florida, Rockefeller came to visit. However, he did not purchase a home in Florida until after Flagler died. He bought the Casements in Ormond Beach in 1918 and lived there during winters until his death at the age of ninety-seven. The home was called the Casements because of its beautiful windows. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



Another early attraction was the Ostrich Farm, which opened in 1892. There were ostrich races with jockeys and Easter egg hunts using giant ostrich eggs. In the 1920s, the Ostrich Farm had financial problems and merged with the Alligator Farm in St. Augustine. The Alligator Farm is the state’s oldest operating tourist attraction and still draws more than 200,000 visitors a year.

The early tourists to Florida were called Yankee Strangers, and by 1882, nearly seventeen thousand had arrived in Jacksonville by train and sea.

But Jacksonville’s days as a major tourist destination were numbered because of the arrival of one of the richest men in the nation: Henry Flagler. He had made his fortune as a partner of John D. Rockefeller in the Standard Oil Company. He first came to Florida with his first wife on vacation. After her death, he remarried and returned with his new wife. Already wealthy, he decided to launch a new career as a developer and railroad builder.

He purchased some small rail lines and linked them into a railroad to St. Augustine. The nation’s oldest city had become a run-down fishing village, but Flagler saw the possibilities. He built the giant Ponce de Leon Hotel and a second hotel across the street, the Alcazar Hotel. The Alcazar was the more moderately priced hotel and featured the world’s largest indoor swimming pool. Using some of the hard-hearted measures he had learned from Rockefeller, he acquired a third hotel.

Flagler invited his wealthy friends to come and stay, and soon St. Augustine was a mecca for visitors. But the town could be rainy and cold, and soon Flagler was looking south. He discovered Ormond Beach, extended his Florida East Coast Railway and bought a sprawling hotel. The hotel in Ormond Beach was made of wood and had to be torn down after a century.

Flagler decided to head farther south to open up the entire east coast of Florida. He first went to Titusville but became convinced that the landowners were trying to overcharge him. Residents of Daytona were not enthusiastic, so he moved to Palm Beach.

He actually developed two towns. Palm Beach, on a barrier island, was for his wealthy friends. West Palm Beach was for those who worked in the homes and hotels on Palm Beach and kept the railroad going. When Flagler began his hotel construction, his hotels were away from the ocean—a suntan was not something people wanted in the 1800s. In Palm Beach, he built a hotel off the water but followed it with one on the water, which he called the Palm Beach Inn. As the beach became more popular, people asked to stay at his hotel on the ocean—by the breakers, which became the name of a grand hotel.


FLORIDA CHOKED ON A BEAUTIFUL FLOWER

Mrs. W.F. Fuller went to the New Orleans World’s Fair in 1884, which turned out to be bad news for Florida. The Japanese exhibition gave visitors a plant with pretty purple flowers—the water hyacinth. She took it back to Florida. Not only are the plants beautiful, but they also multiply quickly, doubling every thirteen days.

Mrs. Fuller lived along the St. Johns near Palatka and put the water hyacinths in her fishpond. When the plants filled the pond to overflowing, she took some out and placed them in the St. Johns River. Within a short time, about two hundred miles of the river were not navigable, choked by the plants.

They spread to the Kissimmee River when a cattleman decided they would make good feed for his cows. They turned out to be poor nutrition—they were 90 percent water—and the plants were left to spread south to the Everglades.

Chemicals were tried to kill the plants, but while they killed off the top of the plant, the roots continued to thrive. Another chemical killed the plants, but it also killed the cattle that drank from the rivers.

The plant is still thriving, and no solution has been found.




A HEARTBROKEN SENATOR VANISHES

Charles Jones should have been one of those politicians for whom schools are named, or at least highways. After all, as a United States senator, he convinced the government to build a naval station in Pensacola that became the financial backbone of the town. He served with distinction on various committees and in 1884 helped Grover Cleveland become president.

First elected in 1874, he was easily reelected in 1880. That year, his wife of twenty-two years died, and some friends noticed that he seemed to change. In 1885, he vacationed in Detroit, although the reasons are not clear. Before the automobile, it was a city of about 100,000.

There, he met a woman and fell in love. Unfortunately for Jones, she was not interested. When his vacation ended, he remained in Detroit, refusing to return to Washington. The woman in question was Clotilde Palms, the heiress to a fortune. The Baltimore Sun said she had inherited $2 million—about $50 million today.

The Florida Times-Union described her as a “plain looking woman of thirty-five years.” Friends and colleagues in Washington and Florida urged him to return to his duties, but he would not leave. He said he was not going to leave until she agreed to marry him. He continued to collect his Senate paycheck, which allowed him to live comfortably.

In 1886, Florida elected a senator to replace Jones, who did not even seek another term. The paychecks stopped coming early in 1887, and Jones was evicted from his hotel and forced to move to a small inn.

He could not pay his restaurant bills and became little more than a beggar. His clothes became shabby. In 1890, he was committed to a hospital in Michigan for treatment of his mental condition. He died there in 1897 at the age of sixty-three.



Palm Beach was a success, but Flagler’s charter gave him the right to go farther south. In 1896, he completed a railroad to Miami, opening up that tiny village to development. As always, he built a huge hotel, but he saw Miami as another stop on his railroad, not the major city it would become. When the local residents said they wanted to change the name of Miami to Flagler, he suggested they stick with Miami.
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The St. James Hotel in Jacksonville was the state’s finest and the first to have electricity. It was especially active during the Spanish-American War when the city was the center for gunrunners and spies. The hotel also employed dozens of African Americans, including the father of early civil rights leader James Weldon Johnson. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



Flagler knew that his railroad could not be a success just providing transportation to his wealthy friends. He urged development of the land for citrus and vegetables and used his railroad to carry the crops north.


THE COCA-COLA MILLIONAIRES

Mark Munroe liked the taste of Coca-Cola. Certainly he wasn’t alone in that—over more than a century, billions of people have agreed with him. But Mark Munroe’s taste buds turned at least sixty-seven people—mostly farmers—into millionaires.

Munroe was a banker in Quincy, a small Florida town near the Georgia border. The Quincy State Bank was the place the tobacco farmers put their money, and for thirty years, they trusted Munroe with their money. He served on a board with W.C. Bradley, a Georgia cotton broker who had purchased the Coca-Cola Company in 1919 for $25 million. At a board meeting in 1922, Bradley shared a Coke with Munroe and told him of the company’s prospects.
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In 1916, the biggest political issue in Florida was prohibition, and the Prohibition Party nominated Sidney J. Catts, who surprised everyone by winning the governorship. Catts turned out to be a terrible governor and claimed the pope was preparing to overthrow the state government. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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One of Florida’s first Coca-Cola bottling plants opened in Quincy in 1908. Quincy became famous in Coca-Cola lore because of the large number of residents who were early investors in the company. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



When Munroe returned to Quincy, he recommended something radical to the local tobacco farmers—that they buy stock in the young company. They each purchased shares, buying so much that, for years, the company sent a messenger to pick up the Gadsden County proxies when the Coke board held its annual meeting.

It is difficult to be exact, but a single share purchased in 1922 for $80 would be nearly ten thousand shares today, worth more than $350,000, plus hundreds of thousands of dollars in dividends. Put another way, if a farmer bought one share and reinvested the dividends, it would be worth more than $10 million today.

It is estimated that sixty-seven of the farmers became what is known as “Coca-Cola millionaires,” and most moved away from the small farming town. The small town received another benefit; one of the first Coca-Cola bottling plants in Florida was built in Quincy.



But Flagler was not through yet. His dream was to build a railroad to Key West, a seemingly impossible task. Much of the railroad would be over water. Shortly before his death, Flagler rode on the first train from Miami to Key West. He was nearly blind but said he could hear the children singing when he arrived in Key West.

On the West Coast, it was Henry Plant who built railroads and hotels. While Flagler lured the wealthy to Florida, Plant went after the middle class, offering them package plans incuding meals, rail fare and a hotel stay.

Flagler and Plant were not the first to see Florida as a tourist mecca, but after they built railroads, they began to spin their dreams of cities rising from swamps.

Steamboats cruised up and down the St. Johns River carrying tourists. One of those who helped draw tourists to Florida was Harriett Beecher Stowe, who wrote Uncle Tom’s Cabin. She came to Florida after the Civil War—a war some believe her book may have helped start—to help her son. He was an alcoholic, and she thought a change of scenery and a new career would help. It did not, but she stayed behind, building a home on the St. Johns River and helping educate the former slaves.
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Harriett Beecher Stowe shot to fame as the author of Uncle Tom’s Cabin. After the war, she came to Florida and purchased a plantation along the St. Johns River for her son. She sat outside as the steamboats came by and became something of a tourist attraction. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.




[image: image]

Henry Flagler built the giant Ponce de Leon Hotel in downtown St. Augustine for his wealthy friends. It was Flagler who developed tourism on Florida’s east coast and extended his railroad to Key West. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



At the same time, guidebooks appeared detailing what the state had to offer. When steamships came by, she would often be very visible, sitting on her front porch or the dock. Some thought the steamship lines paid the celebrity writer to make the appearances.


FLORIDA’S MOST FAMOUS DIVORCE

When Henry Flagler’s first wife died in 1881, Flagler and her nurse, Alice Shourds, were by her side. Two years later, Shourds and Flagler were married. She was sixteen years younger than Flagler.

After their marriage, Flagler noticed that his bride was doing strange things. She used coffee cream on her skin, put dye on her cheeks and told people that the czar of Russia was in love with her and was coming to take her away.

She worried that Flagler’s staff members were Russian spies. At social functions, she would often fly into fits of anger. About the same time, Mary Lily Kenan caught Flagler’s eye. He was seventy-one by then, and she was thirty-four. They began dating, and as people began to talk, Mary insisted they marry.

Flagler was willing to ship his wife off to an insane asylum, but he found that in Florida, insanity was not grounds for divorce. The law would have to be changed. In a state controlled by Baptists, the legislature was in no mood to make it easier to get a divorce.

At the time, Stetson University had strong ties to the Baptist Church, and its president was a powerful leader in the church. Flagler aides began a massive lobbying campaign. Suddenly, the legislature agreed to change its mind. At the same time, Flagler made a generous donation to Stetson to build Flagler Hall, which still stands.

Flagler got his divorce and married Mary. Five years later, the legislature changed the law back.

Flagler died in 1913, and Mary died just four years later at the age of fifty. Ever since, there has been speculation that her second husband poisoned her. Meanwhile, Alice lived until 1930, passing her time in the asylum and waiting for the czar of Russia to come for her.
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WAR WITH SPAIN

Florida has always had a relationship with Latin American islands and been a beacon of freedom during revolutions and economic turmoil. During a revolution in Cuba in the 1860s, thousands of Cubans fled to the United States. They set up cigar factories in Key West and Tampa and set aside a portion of their weekly wages to pay for the war against the Spanish in Cuba.

The cigar workers were some of the best-educated people in Florida. Each cigar worker chipped in to hire a “lector,” a man who spent the day reading to the workers. The lectors sat on a platform above the work floor and began reading newspapers in the morning, then novels and finally political information.

In the 1890s, the revolution flared again, and this time, the United States became involved. As war between the United States and Spain came closer, the activities of Cubans in the United States increased. Cuban leader José Martí laid secret plans to overthrow the Spanish while in Tampa and wrapped them in a cigar.

Floridians were also involved with the war as Jacksonville became a center for gunrunners and spies. One of the best-known gunrunners was Napoleon Broward, who turned his gun-running fame into the governorship. The president at the time, Grover Cleveland, was trying to avoid war, and Broward was indicted for making eight illegal runs to sell guns to the Cuban revolutionaries.

When war came, Broward went from accused criminal to hero. In 1904, he was elected governor of Florida. In 1910, he was elected to the United States Senate but died before his term began.
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Each week when Cuban cigar workers were paid, they took out money to pay their union dues, to make a contribution to the continuing Cuban revolution and to pay the “lector.” The lector was someone with a booming voice who read to the workers. The day’s reading began with a Spanish-language newspaper, followed by English-language newspapers, magazines and books such as The Count of Monte Cristo and Les Misérables. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



Not everyone supported American entry into the war, with most of the opposition coming from Florida. The residents were worried about a possible attack by Spain, and they worried that Cuba might become part of the United States and undercut the products of Florida.

The Jacksonville Times-Union and Citizen asked that fortifications be built to protect Florida from a possible attack. The army announced that defenses would be set up at all of Florida’s major coastal cities. To put the concerns of Floridians aside, Congress agreed that if the United States won the war, it would not acquire Cuba.

The Spanish-American War proved to be a boon to Florida; the army set up its headquarters in Tampa, and soon the city was overrun with soldiers, journalists and camp followers. The city’s population increased almost overnight from twenty-five thousand to sixty-five thousand. Henry Plant’s railroad made a fortune carrying tons of supplies for the army. At one time, trains were backed up miles waiting to unload in Tampa. Plant’s Tampa Bay Hotel filled with military leaders and became the headquarters for the war.

Only a small percentage of the soldiers who came to Florida actually saw action in the war, and Florida’s soldiers were among those left behind. At the start of the war, Florida was asked to provide a dozen companies to serve in the war. The problem was there were twenty companies in Florida, representing cities around the state. The governor had a solution: combine the twenty companies into twelve units. But no town wanted to lose its company’s identity. At the last minute, the governor selected the twelve regiments, and some one thousand men began training in Tampa.
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Teddy Roosevelt (right) and his Rough Riders came to Tampa along with thousands of other soldiers in 1898. Roosevelt and his soldiers were not scheduled to travel to Cuba, but he forced his way aboard a troop ship and to glory in Cuba. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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The death toll from the 1928 hurricane that struck near Lake Okeechobee will never be known for sure, but it is believed to be close to three thousand. Hundreds of coffins were brought in for the dead, but most of those who died were thrown into large pits and covered with lime. It is considered the second-deadliest natural disaster in United States history, behind the Galveston hurricane of 1900. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



But when the troop ships left for Cuba, not a single Florida soldier was on board. A handful of soldiers were in an engineering unit that eventually got to Cuba, but the Florida soldiers spent their time in camp, mostly in Alabama, even farther from the war. Tragically, twenty-eight of the Florida soldiers died of disease, two were murdered and nineteen deserted.
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Napoleon Broward rose to fame as a gunrunner before the Spanish-American War. He was indicted but became a hero when the United States entered the war. His fame led him to win the governorship in 1904. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



One of the few who rode to fame in Cuba was Teddy Roosevelt, the future president, who forced his way onto a ship in Tampa Harbor. Roosevelt liked Florida, and when he became president, he became a champion of Florida’s environment. A fashion craze in the late 1800s was the plumed hat, which millions of women wore. The plumes came from Florida birds, which were slaughtered by the thousands for their feathers. Roosevelt set up bird sanctuaries—the first in the nation. And he created the Ocala National Forest, the oldest national forest east of the Mississippi.

Twenty years later, Florida also played a role in World War I, with pilots trained in Pensacola in the first war to have significant use of air power.
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OWN A PIECE OF PARADISE

Two developments led to the 1920s land boom. The first was the coming of the automobile and the construction of highways to Miami. One ran along the East Coast and the other from the Midwest, opening up Florida to millions of people. The second was the spread of the vacation, which gave people the time to come to Florida.

In Miami Beach, it was Carl Fisher and in Coral Gables, it was George Merrick who convinced people to buy land. Many people never saw the land they purchased; they were responding to mail solicitations or signed on after hearing pitches from salesmen who fanned out around the country. Others did come to see the land, packing buses that drove them to inspect the property while listening to sales pitches.

From 1920 to 1925, Florida’s population increased by 25 percent, the fastest growth in the nation. The number one state contributing to Florida’s population growth was Georgia, which sent tens of thousands of its citizens to Florida. The Georgia governor, in a slap at Florida, said the departure of the Georgians to Florida had improved the IQ average of both states.

Land soared in value, often changing hands several times a day for ever-increasing prices. There seemed to be no end to the price escalation. But there were problems on the horizon. A piece of land that sold for a few thousand dollars in downtown Miami in 1915 went for $1 million in 1925.

A man on his way to work one morning in Miami purchased an apartment house for $20,000 by making a $2,000 down payment. As he continued to walk, he encountered a man who offered him $30,000—a $10,000 profit in minutes (about $140,000 today).


CREATING MIAMI BEACH

Carl Fisher was one of the most amazing men of the twentieth century, and his legacy is still seen from Canada to Miami. It is difficult to say which accomplishment Fisher is the most famous for. In 1904, he acquired part of a patent for the first automobile headlights. His company soon had a near monopoly on headlights. He sold his company to Union Carbine for $9 million, about $210 million today. He went on to start the first automobile dealership and to develop the Indianapolis Motor Speedway—home of the Indianapolis 500.

His interest in automobiles led him to propose the Lincoln Highway, the first road crossing the United States. He also envisioned the Dixie Highway stretching from Michigan to Miami. The end of the highway brought Fisher to Miami, then on the verge of a major land boom. Efforts were already underway to link Miami Beach to Miami, but the original developer was running out of money. Fisher stepped in, helped complete the bridge and in 1913 began filling in the mangrove swamps and turning them into waterfront land. He built a large resort hotel and promoted his resort with pictures of women in bathing suits on the beach while the temperatures hovered below freezing in the North.

In 1926, the land boom busted, and Fisher was overextended. He began drinking heavily, and not only was his Miami land declining in value, but also a real estate investment on Long Island ended in disaster. He moved from his mansion to a small house and died in 1939.
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The fantastic Fontainebleau Hotel in Miami became the symbol of Miami Beach in the 1950s. Its distinctive architecture became famous throughout the world. The small building in the foreground is the mansion of tire king Harvey Firestone. The hotel was built on his property. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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President-elect Warren G. Harding went to Miami Beach in 1921 and stayed at the Flamingo Hotel, a new resort built by Carl Fisher. When Harding went golfing, Fisher arranged to have a baby elephant named Rosie act as his caddy, which resulted in a photo that brought Miami Beach tremendous publicity. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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The Flamingo Hotel was the first resort hotel on Miami Beach. Built by Carl Fisher, it was on Biscayne Bay instead of the ocean. Fisher thought the bay would be perfect for boat races, which would be a better draw than the ocean. It was torn down in the 1950s to make way for an apartment complex. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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One of the reasons the Florida land boom came to a halt in 1926 was the overturning of the Prins Valdemar. Many of the building materials to keep the Miami economy going were brought in by ship, and the Prins Valdemar blocked the ship channel and halted many projects. The ship was coming to Miami to become a floating hotel to serve the huge influx of tourists. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.




A FRONT-PAGE PUBLICITY STUNT

It was a sensation throughout the country: a fortune in treasure had been found in Key Largo. Half a million dollars in all—about $7 million today—was discovered by a beachcomber. And, of course, there might be more. Newspapers all over the country reported the story, creating a national sensation.

But there was a lot less to the story than reported in the newspapers. There was no treasure: the whole thing was a massive publicity stunt staged by a man who wanted to pay for his divorce.

In 1925, Ben Hecht got an introduction to the president of a Key Largo land company. The president was about to start selling lots and wanted some publicity. Hecht had an idea: convince people that Key Largo was where the Spanish had planted their treasure. His wild idea was that he would charter a yacht to take fifty society women from New York to Key Largo and then turn them loose to look for treasure.

Hecht asked for an outrageous fee of $60,000, plus the cost of the stunt, about $1.3 million today. He borrowed some gold coins from the president of Cuba, bought some old Spanish vases and buried them on Key Largo. But he couldn’t convince any society women to set sail and ended up paying a beachcomber $100 to “discover” the treasure.

Hecht sent telegrams to two hundred newspapers telling them of the amazing discovery, and Key Largo was on front pages across the nation. As Hecht had predicted, people lined up to buy lots.

His stunt worked, but Hecht saw that the land boom was about to bust. He took his money and left Florida. He told the land company executives about his feelings, but they wouldn’t listen.

Hecht went on to write the classic movie The Front Page, help write Gone With the Wind and win the first Academy Award for screenplay for Underworld in 1927.

The Key Largo company went broke, and its president was last seen sleeping in a car in a parking lot.
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Most of Henry Flagler’s hotels were built away from the beach. His second hotel in Palm Beach, the Palm Beach Inn, was on the ocean. To distinguish between the two hotels, people making reservations began requesting to stay at his hotel on the ocean—by the breakers. It became the name of the magnificent hotel, which still stands as the grandest in Florida. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



The land sales required just a small down payment and small monthly payments. The buyers could walk away at any time with just a small loss. Then, the buyers encountered problems building on their land. The Florida East Coast Railway had just one track coming into Miami, the line was overwhelmed with the traffic and there were delays lasting months. The alternative was to ship goods by sea, but when a freighter overturned in Miami Harbor, it blocked supplies coming in for months.


TURNING SWAMPS INTO ISLANDS

What happened to D.P. Davis is still a mystery. Some say he fell overboard and drowned, others say he committed suicide. It brought to an end one of the great Florida development stories.

The story begins in the 1920s in Tampa. What others saw as marshy swamp, Davis saw as a major development—all he needed was dirt. He began filling in tons of dirt and soon had his own island off Tampa, valuable land from nothing. His waterfront lots sold briskly, and soon he was wealthy.

He thought he could repeat his success and began looking around for more low-lying land. In 1925, he found what he was looking for in St. Augustine. Anastasia Island, across from the giant Spanish fort, was in a prime location but also swampy. He would fill it in with dirt and then sell some of the 2,200 lots. There would also be a golf course, a great hotel, a yacht club and a casino.

He picked Friday, November 13, 1925, to begin selling lots. It proved to be an unlucky day. The land boom was turning into the land bust. He had sold thousands of lots in Tampa, which made him a millionaire on paper. But when the bust came, many people simply walked away from their lots and their payments.

He lost control of his Tampa project to creditors and faced the same fate in St. Augustine. He sailed for Europe, saying he wanted to develop offshore property there. On the way, he was lost at sea.

The St. Augustine project, known as Davis Shores, went into bankruptcy with more than $1 million in debt and few residents. After World War II, land sales took off, and today, there are very few empty lots in Davis Shores.



The final blow came with a pair of hurricanes, which killed thousands of people, caused widespread destruction and alarmed land buyers. The boom became a bust.


THE MAN WHO STARTED HIS OWN CLUB

There was no doubt that Clarence Geist was crude, rude, arrogant and the kind of guy people just didn’t like being around. He was a poor boy who took a job as a railroad conductor. On one trip, he met Charles Dawes, a future vice president. Dawes was impressed, and the two began investing in utilities.

Geist made a fortune and became the largest utility stockholder in the nation. Included in his holdings were water systems in Philadelphia and Indianapolis. His wealth enabled him to buy a mansion in Palm Beach, but it could not get him membership in the exclusive Everglades Club, the leading private club on the island. The members clearly did not want to associate with Geist.

So he purchased his own club—actually, he purchased an entire town. He was an investor in the development of Boca Raton, and when it went bankrupt in 1927, Geist purchased its assets for $71,500. The deal included the lavish Cloister Inn, fifty houses and fifteen thousand acres of land. He turned the 100-room Cloister Inn into the 450-room Boca Raton Club. Geist had his own private club, which had to admit him.

Geist built a water plant and a railroad depot and dredged the inlet to allow yachts to anchor. Despite the improvements, Geist did not change his personality; in the days before golf carts, Geist had his limousine and chauffer follow him around the course. At night, the club showed movies, but they could not begin until Geist arrived, usually in his bathrobe.

In a speech he wrote but never delivered, he had a message for the permanent residents: “You are not going to make any money in this community except through people coming here in the winter. Get their money while they are here, and you won’t have to do a lot of work throughout the hot weather of the summer.”
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The giant Key West hurricane of 1935 killed hundreds of World War I veterans working in the Keys. The storm was so powerful that it knocked a train sent to rescue the men off the tracks. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



For the rest of the nation, the Great Depression began in 1929, but in Florida, it started in 1926. Land prices plummeted, and the cities of the future became overgrown.

To lure the wealthy, the state took two actions in the 1920s that continue to make it attractive. The state outlawed both the income tax and the inheritance tax and required a constitutional amendment to adopt either tax—a highly unlikely proposition.


AN EARLY CARMAKER FAILS IN FLORIDA

Ransom Olds put his name on everything. He put his name on the first car he built, the Oldsmobile. He put it on his second car, R.E. Olds—known as the REO—his initials. He put it on a hotel and an office building in Lansing. And he put it on the name of a town in Florida.

Olds was the first automaker to mass produce cars, the first to use an assembly line and the first to make a car aimed at the masses—an honor usually given to Henry Ford. But he always seemed to miss the boat. He had a falling out with his partner at Oldsmobile before it was sold to General Motors, missing out on the big money. He went on to form REO, originally a car company, which began making trucks and buses.

One of his concerns was his parents, who were growing older. He thought warm weather would be good for them and purchased a home for them in Daytona Beach, close to the beach where he raced cars. The more he thought about it, the more he believed there was a need for a retirement community for elderly Americans. It was not going to be for the wealthy but for middle-class Americans.

He purchased twenty thousand acres near Tampa and, of course, named it for himself—Oldsmar. Then, he began building. Unfortunately, the land boom was ending. Despite having more than one hundred salesmen, few people were interested.

Olds was ready to give up. In one of the worst land deals in history, Olds traded most of his land for a hotel in Clearwater and a second hotel in Kansas.



As the Great Depression took hold, the legislature passed other bills, some silly. In one session, the legislature passed a bill allowing unemployed veterans to become certified public accountants without any education or training. The governor vetoed the measure.

The growing network of highways helped bring millions to Florida, but the coming of the airplane meant a dramatic increase in Florida tourism. The nation’s first airline started in 1914 and carried passengers—two at a time—from St. Petersburg to Tampa and back. There was no bridge across Tampa Bay, and the journey could take twelve hours by train.


EDISON PUTS FORT MYERS ON THE MAP

When Henry Flagler’s wealthy friends began coming to Florida in the late 1800s, there were few major resort cities to attract them. So they settled in a wide variety of places; for example, John D. Rockefeller built his home in Ormond Beach. One of those who came was Thomas Edison, who chose Fort Myers. In 1885, Edison was seriously ill and was urged to go to a warmer climate. In Fort Myers, he purchased thirteen acres on the Caloosahatchee River and began building a home and a laboratory.

There were just 349 people living in the town at the time. When Edison offered to light the town’s streets, residents declined, claiming that the lights would frighten the cows that wandered the streets.

Fort Myers changed Edison from a workaholic to a man of leisure. His secretary complained, “We have written him; we have telegraphed him. We get no response. He ignores the telegraph and despises the mail.”

He attracted his important friends to Fort Myers. Henry Ford came to see Edison and ended up building his own home nearby. Herbert Hoover also came, and they often went camping nearby. The notoriety made Fort Myers well known and helped transform it from small village to prosperous city.
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When Thomas Edison came to Fort Myers, it was a tiny village. Along with his neighbor, Henry Ford, he drew attention to the town on the Gulf of Mexico. The roads in the area were frequently muddy and difficult. To help Edison, Ford built him a special Model-T with extra-wide tires. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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Sidney J. Catts is considered Florida’s worst governor. Elected in 1916 on the Prohibition ticket, Catts claimed the pope was leading a plot to overthrow the government of Florida. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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Tarzan Finds a Son was filmed primarily in California, but some underwater scenes were filmed at Silver Springs. Johnny Sheffield played the son. Maureen O’Sullivan, who played Jane, didn’t make the trip, and a local woman was hired to stand in for her. It was one of dozens of movies and television shows filmed at Silver Springs. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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Pan American Airways began as a mail carrier between Key West and Havana in 1927. Pan American was a combination of small airlines that was established to compete with a German-owned airline seeking to gain a foothold in Latin America. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



St. Petersburg businessman P.E. Fansler purchased two old seaplanes, hired pilot Tony Janus and launched the first airline. The first flight was on New Year’s Day 1914, and more than three thousand people turned out to see the flight across the bay. A round trip cost ten dollars, and just two passengers could squeeze in.

Janus also carried freight between the two cities. The airline lasted just three months, closing down at the end of the 1914 winter tourist season. The airline did not start up again the following year, and Janus died during World War I training pilots in Russia.

Eastern Airlines started flying in 1926 as Florida Airways in Jacksonville and later moved its headquarters to Miami. National Airlines started in 1934 in St. Petersburg, flying to other Florida cities. National and Eastern played major roles in developing Florida tourism. They launched direct flights from cities in the Northeast to major Florida cities. In three hours, a tourist could leave the winter weather in New York and arrive in Miami Beach.

In 1928, Pan American World Airways began flying between Key West and Havana, the first of hundreds of international routes that would take the airline around the world.


BUILDING CORAL GABLES

George Merrick created a grand city in Florida, only to end up broke.

In the early 1900s, the Merrick family owned a farm near Miami. They grew produce to sell to the new Royal Palms Hotel in Miami. In 1911, Merrick inherited the farm, and he began to envision a city rising from his farm. He began buying land and by 1921 had 1,600 acres—his purchases completed just as the land boom was beginning. He hired architects to help him create a magnificent city. He hired William Jennings Bryan, the three-time Democratic presidential nominee, to give speeches and draw crowds.

Merrick also created the University of Miami and began construction on the Biltmore Hotel, one of Florida’s grandest. But when the boom ended in 1926, Merrick was badly overextended. He went bankrupt and lost his beloved Biltmore Hotel. His grand life vanished, and his friends found him a job as postmaster in Miami.
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Thomas Edison made early movies at his studio outside of New York and later in New York City. Gradually, the movie makers moved to Florida, primarily Jacksonville. This film was made in Coral Gables in the 1920s. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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DENYING DEMOCRACY

Despite the influx of northern people and their money, Florida remained a typical conservative southern state. When the issue of giving women the right to vote swept the country after 1900, Florida’s legislature voted against the constitutional amendment. State representative John Gornto warned that giving women the right to vote would “bring on marital unhappiness, divorces, and a disruptive domestic condition.” The amendment passed without Florida, and in a meaningless—if symbolic—vote, the legislature finally passed the measure in 1969.

The legislature also joined with other southern states in passing discriminatory laws against African Americans. The wave of Jim Crow laws, so called after the stage name of a white musician who painted his face black when he performed, took away the few rights blacks still maintained. They were ordered segregated in everything from streetcars to drinking fountains. The state passed a poll tax, which required voters to pay for the right to vote—effectively eliminating poor blacks and whites from the rolls. There was also the timing of the poll tax—voters were required to pay the tax months before the election at the start of the planting season when farmers had already gone into debt to buy seed. A portion of the poll tax went to support the public schools, which guaranteed that the state’s teachers would support it.

For those who came up with the poll tax, usually one dollar, which is twenty-five dollars today, there was always the literacy test. One of the questions with an impossible answer was “How many bubbles in a bar of soap?”

In 1895, the state went to a system of multiple ballot boxes. Voters were required to match ballots with the right box, a hunt that confused illiterate voters, both white and black. Blacks made up over 40 percent of the residents, but in some north Florida counties where they were actually in the majority, not one African American was registered to vote.


AN EARLY CIVIL RIGHTS CHAMPION

James Weldon Johnson became one of the first civil rights leaders and the co-author of the song that became known as the Negro national anthem.

He was born in Jacksonville in 1874 and graduated in 1894 from Atlanta University—an all–African American school. He returned to Jacksonville and, at the age of twenty-three, became principal of the Stanton School, the leading African American school in Florida. Stanton School taught academic subjects, while most schools for African Americans concentrated on vocational studies, preparing students for nonprofessional jobs.
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James Weldon Johnson grew up in Jacksonville and became a leader in the civil rights movement. He was the first African American to lead the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People and wrote the classic Autobiography of an Ex-Colored Man. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



In Jacksonville, he founded the first black daily newspaper in the nation. It lasted just eight months but made Johnson a national figure. He also became an attorney, the first black admitted to the Florida Bar.

In addition to everything else, he and his brother wrote songs. In 1900, the two wrote “Lift Every Voice,” which became the anthem of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP).

In 1902, he moved to New York to become a full-time song writer. One song, “Under the Bamboo Tree,” was a hit, selling a staggering half million copies. Four years later, President Theodore Roosevelt named Johnson consul to Venezuela. President William Howard Taft moved him to Nicaragua. It was in Nicaragua that he wrote his classic book The Autobiography of an Ex-Colored Man.

He returned to New York and became editor of the New York Age, the leading African American newspaper in the city. In 1920, he became the executive secretary of the NAACP, the first African American to hold the prestigious post. Ten years later, he joined the faculty at Fisk University. In 1938, he died when a train struck his car.
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ONE BIG MILITARY BASE

The New Deal helped Florida recover from the Depression, primarily through two job programs: the Works Progress Administration and the Civilian Conservation Corps. The great African American writer Zora Neale Hurston became a writer for the Federal Writers’ Project, traveling around the state and preparing a book for tourists. To raise money, Florida legalized parimutuel betting and began what would become a tradition in Florida, drawing college students to the beaches for what became known as spring break.

But the economy continued to languish until World War II, which propelled Florida from a small state—the least populated in the south—to a the third most populated in the nation. For Florida, the war came early, as British pilots began training in the state in the 1940s. But along with Hawaii, the shooting also came early in Florida. German submarines lurked off the coast of Florida waiting for oil tankers from Texas to pass by, heading to eastern ports. The Germans sank one hundred ships off the Florida coast, and once war was declared, the United States responded by building small torpedo boats—the famous PT boats—to attack the submarines.

It seemed as though Florida had become one big military base. From Pensacola to Key West, Florida soldiers were undergoing training. Pilots were being trained at Pensacola, soldiers were preparing for amphibious landings at Fort Pierce and south Florida hotels housed seventy thousand soldiers.

The war provided a huge boost to Florida’s economy, and it had long-lasting results. Thousands of men and women who came to train in Florida liked what they saw. Some moved to Florida after the war, while others waited until they retired to make the move.


FROM SCRUB PINE TO THE MOON

Cape Canaveral has become legendary as the site for space launches. From the days when small single-stage missiles were fired to the first landing on the moon in 1969, the nation sat glued to its television sets to watch the latest flights.

But Cape Canaveral was actually the third choice for the space launches, and a reluctant choice at that. As early as the 1930s, scientist Robert Goddard experimented with rockets in the New Mexico desert. The American missile program began during World War II at White Sands Proving Ground, and the first atomic bomb test was held there. But the area was considered too confining for advanced missile testing.

The second-choice spot was El Centro, California, but the Mexican government protested. Mexican officials pointed out that El Centro was close to the border and an errant missile—there were many back then—might land south of the border.

Coming in third was the Banana River Naval Air Station at Cape Canaveral. In 1949, President Harry Truman gave the air force the go-ahead to develop a testing ground. The following year it was renamed Patrick Air Force Base for an air force major general.

The first missile went up on July 24, 1950, combining a German V-2 rocket and a U.S. rocket to build a two-stage rocket. The base was under air force control until 1958, when the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) was created and given control.

On November 22, 1963, President John Kennedy was assassinated, and six days later, President Lyndon Johnson went on national television to announce that he was renaming the space center, as well as the small town of Cape Canaveral, Cape Kennedy.

The residents of the town were bitterly divided about the change of names and voted to keep their original name. But it took a ten-year battle before they had their way, and the town’s name was changed back to Cape Canaveral.


[image: image]

The early missiles fired from what was then Cape Canaveral were a combination of American and German technology and often failed. The first missile launched in 1950. Just nineteen years later, a missile from the cape sent men on the way to a moon landing. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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Apollo 11 was the first mission to land on the moon. Michael Collins remained behind in the command capsule while Buzz Aldrin and Neil Armstrong walked on the moon. Cape Kennedy was the third choice for the launching site for the nation’s space program. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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During World War II, most of Miami’s hotels were taken over by soldiers, sailors and pilots undergoing training. Military bases were established from Pensacola to Key West. Florida’s mild weather made it possible to train year round, and the state offered a wide variety of settings, from jungles to beaches, to practice landings and fighting. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



Air conditioning had become popular in the 1930s but was usually reserved for theaters or large stores. Now, the room air conditioner became a reality. Not only could it cool homes, but it also changed the economics of home construction. Before air conditioning, homes had to have large windows for airflow, and the ceilings needed to be high. With the window air conditioners, small concrete block homes began dotting the landscape. They were inexpensive, quick to build and made perfect retirement homes.

There was another change in postwar Florida. Social Security payments were becoming a factor for millions of Americans. The first Social Security check was issued in 1940—for $22.54. At the time, there were 2,500 Social Security recipients in Florida. By 2015, there were 4 million. Finally, there was DDT, developed during the war, which brought the mosquitoes under control but damaged the environment.

Florida was the scene for two unusual events during World War II. On June 13, 1942, four German soldiers landed on a beach south of Jacksonville. They were wearing swimwear and playing with a beach ball, just like the other people on the beach. They had $100,000 in cash and plans to blow up power plants and factories in the United States.
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DDT as a way to kill mosquitoes was developed in Florida during World War II. For years, trucks drove through neighborhoods spraying DDT without realizing the damage it was doing to the environment. After the publication of the book Silent Spring, serious questions were raised about the chemical, and it was eventually outlawed. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



They made their way to Jacksonville, where two caught a bus heading for Chicago and two caught a bus for Washington. They were to meet two pairs of Nazis who had landed on Long Island. One of the Germans called the FBI and told it of the plan. All eight were sentenced to death in a secret military trial, although the sentences of the man who called the FBI and one other were commuted. Six weeks after the landing, the six men were shot by firing squad. The entire case was kept top secret until after the war.

The second unusual part Florida played in the war also involved Nazis coming to Florida. When the United States entered the war, the military decided to start the fighting in North Africa. One of the problems it faced was what to do with the prisoners it captured. It was decided to send them to the United States, including camps in Florida. The main Florida camp was at Camp Blanding south of Jacksonville. When Camp Blanding became overcrowded, satellite camps were established.

Because of the war, there was a shortage of workers in jobs such as picking oranges and working in laundries. Some of the prisoners of war were allowed to take the jobs, which created confusion in Florida cities. One person wrote to his congressman complaining that a Nazi was working next to American women in a laundry. At the end of the war, the camps were closed and the prisoners sent home, although a number petitioned to remain in the United States.


TRAINING BRITISH PILOTS IN FLORIDA

In the early days of World War II, the German Luftwaffe controlled the European skies. It bombed at will. The British Royal Air Force, the famed RAF, fought valiantly and eventually defeated the Luftwaffe.

But in the process, hundreds of British pilots and their crew members died. Training new pilots was especially difficult. Inexperienced pilots on training flights were prime targets for the Germans. British chief air marshal Sir Charles Portal rejected training in England. “It would be fraught with problems and danger,” he said. In a single attack, the Germans destroyed forty-six training aircraft.

The British needed a safe place to train pilots. And they needed a place where the weather was good enough to allow training year round. U.S. general Hap Arnold backed the British and worked to establish training facilities in the United States, even though the country was technically neutral.
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Hundreds of British pilots trained in Florida because Germany controlled the skies over England early in World War II. These pilots pose beside a training plane provided by the United States. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



British Flying Training Schools were established in the Florida towns of Arcadia, Clewiston and Moorehaven for the twenty-seven-week training program. Thousands of pilots were trained in Florida, giving Britain the manpower it needed to defeat the Germans in the air.

But nearly two dozen men died in crashes during training. Under British policy, war dead were buried where they died rather than being returned to Britain. The British dead were buried in Arcadia’s Oak Ridge Cemetery. Each year, the local Rotary Club holds a service to honor the British war dead.
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World War II came early to Florida as German submarines waited off the coast for oil tankers to sail up the Gulf Stream to the refineries in the Northeast. More than one hundred ships were sunk by the submarines. This ship was hit by torpedoes and set on fire before sinking. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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THE CIVIL RIGHTS MOVEMENT

The postwar period also brought a surge in civil rights activity in Florida. Like the rest of the South, there had been violence against African Americans. When African Americans tried to vote in Ocoee in 1920, violence broke out, and not only were blacks killed, but all African Americans were run out of town and their land taken. It would take half a century for African Americans to begin moving back to Ocoee. In Perry, a mob of whites burned Charles White at the stake in 1922 after he was accused of murdering a white schoolteacher. The following day, two more black men were lynched, and the mob burned a black school, a church, several homes and a Masonic lodge.

The following year in Rosewood, the entire town was destroyed in a wave of racial violence and never restored.

The discrimination and violence led more than forty thousand African Americans to leave the state, heading north in what became known as the Great Migration. They went for better-paying jobs with the railroad, steel mills or other industries and to escape the discriminatory laws of Florida.

Thousands of African American soldiers from Florida served in Europe where there were no Jim Crow laws. When they returned to Florida at the end of the war, they wanted more than life in the fields picking oranges.

One of the leaders of the postwar civil rights movement was Harry T. Moore, the first field secretary for the NAACP. Moore’s efforts to register voters and protest violence against African Americans were showing results, and on Christmas night in 1951, he was killed when a bomb exploded beneath his home. When future Supreme Court justice Thurgood Marshall came to Florida to defend three African Americans accused of rape, members of the Ku Klux Klan tried to kill him, even trailing his car one night.

Two of the most famous civil rights leaders were born in Florida: A. Philip Randolph and James Weldon Johnson. Randolph organized a union of railroad porters, who were nearly all African American. Railway porters were unusual in that the trains they worked on traveled between the South, where they had few rights, and the North, where the law did not limit them. And as railroad employees, they enjoyed good pay and benefits.

Randolph became active in civil rights, and during World War II, he pressured President Franklin Roosevelt to issue an executive order outlawing discrimination in defense industries—opening thousands of jobs to African Americans for the first time. He also came up with the idea of a civil rights march on Washington, D.C.

Randolph, who was born in Crescent City in 1889, let Roosevelt know that if he didn’t do more for African Americans, he would organize a demonstration in Washington, D.C. Roosevelt, not wanting there to be any lack of unity during the war, agreed with Randolph. Later, Randolph convinced President Harry Truman to integrate the armed services.

But Randolph kept the idea in mind, and as the modern civil rights movement began in the 1950s, he revived it. In 1963, more than 200,000 people came together in Washington, D.C., to push for civil rights. Nearly everyone remembers the “I Have a Dream” speech of Dr. Martin Luther King Jr., but it was Randolph who organized the rally.

The other major civil rights figure was James Weldon Johnson, the first African American head of the NAACP and the author of what is known as the Negro national anthem.


JIM CROW AND MAJOR LEAGUE BASEBALL

To the nation, Jackie Robinson is the man who integrated Major League Baseball. But before he hit the major-league parks in the spring of 1947, he had to deal with the racism of Florida, a state where segregation was the law.

The racism began even before Robinson arrived at the New York Dodgers spring training site in Daytona Beach. The city manager announced that Robinson would have to abide by segregation laws and could not stay at the any of the major hotels.

When the team hit the road to play other teams, he encountered even more discrimination. In Sanford, city officials told Dodgers manager Branch Rickey that Robinson could not play on the same field as whites. In Jacksonville and DeLand, games were canceled to prevent Robinson from taking the field.

But Florida was facing a problem. In the days before Walt Disney World and the other major attractions, spring training was a major draw, bringing thousands of people to Florida. They often stayed for weeks at a time.

Arizona was trying to lure teams, and Florida desperately wanted to keep them. Baseball owners had an option—if Florida towns were going to discriminate against African American players, baseball would head west. The attitudes began to change, and the civil rights movement of the 1950s helped advance the change.
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A MOUSE AND HIS CREATOR ARRIVE

For decades, the attractions in Florida were colorful if small-time places, often family owned and located by the roadside so that tourists driving by could stop. Sometimes they began as service stations that added orange juice, then an alligator or two and some birds and they had an attraction. One historian found that between 1946 and 1954, more than thirty attractions opened in Florida. Many took advantage of what nature had given them. Those near a swamp could become Alligator Farm or Gatorland. Those near water could become Marineland or the Seaquarium.

Western-themed parks were the rage, with the biggest, Six-Gun Territory, in Ocala. But there were half a dozen of others with gunslingers scattered throughout the state. The strangest may have been Petticoat Junction in the panhandle—named for the 1960s television series.

It all changed in 1963 with the arrival of a man from California. Walt Disney had come to Florida before. His family moved to Florida in the 1800s, settling near the small town of Paisley. His father tried several vocations, from planting oranges to delivering mail. None worked, and most of the family left Florida before Walt Disney was born.

Walt came to Florida as a child to see his relatives. When he came back, it was to search for a site for a new park. His Disneyland in California had been a tremendous success, but nearly all of the guests came from west of the Mississippi.

He considered locations from St. Louis to Niagara Falls before settling on Florida. On November 20, 1963, he flew into Tampa on a private plane. The following day, he drove to Ocala to look at sites. On November 22, he flew over Orlando, and at the intersection of Interstate 4 and the Florida Turnpike, he looked out the window, pointed and said, “That’s it.”
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The Indians named the Weeki Wachee Springs, which means “Little Spring.” However, it is so deep that no one has ever touched the bottom. In 1946, Newton Perry, a navy veteran, came up with an unusual idea: turn the magnificent springs into a tourist attraction. He figured out a way to use air hoses to allow women dressed as mermaids to stay under the water and do everything from swim to eat. It was one of the early Florida attractions and drew large crowds. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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On New Year’s Day in 1888, Elias Disney married Flora Call in the tiny village of Daytona, then with a population of fewer than two hundred people. When the Call family moved to Florida in 1884, the Disney family followed. After several ventures had failed, Disney and his wife moved to Chicago in 1889. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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Walt Disney came to Orlando to announce plans for what would become Disney World. He was accompanied by his brother, Roy, and Governor Haydon Burns. The announcement changed Orlando and Florida forever. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



His plane did not land, and he headed back to California. When the plane stopped in New Orleans for fuel, a worker told Disney that President John Kennedy was dead.

It was fortunate for Orlando that Disney saw the land from the air rather than in person. The land he was looking at was little more than a swamp and required huge amounts of dirt to fill in. The land where the Magic Kingdom is located needed more than a dozen feet of dirt to make it buildable. If Disney knew the problems he would encounter, Disney World would probably have been built in Ocala.

Walt wanted to buy twenty-seven thousand acres, which puzzled his brother, Roy. Why would he want that much land? Roy asked. Walt’s answer was simple. He asked Roy if he wished they had purchased more land when they built Disneyland. The Disneys were short of cash when they built Disneyland and could afford only 160 acres. The surrounding acreage quickly developed, land Walt wished he had purchased.

Walt was worried that if word leaked about his plans, the price of the land would soar. He worked in secret to buy the land, hiring a former CIA agent to organize the purchases. They worked through several fronts to buy the land in secret. When Walt did come to Orlando, he used a false name—Mr. Brown—and was able to carry off the false identity.

What Walt planned to build was never made clear, and he died before it could be decided. Walt was always coming up with new ideas, and his vision for the land in Florida was far different from the amusement park in California. He had read books about city planning and cities of the future, and he was thinking about building a real city with schools and parks and residences. He originally thought about buying three thousand acres in south Florida for his city and then dropped that plan. He also considered a type of permanent world’s fair—he had grown up hearing stories about the Chicago World’s Fair—which would eventually become Epcot.
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Racing on the beach started more than a century ago. After World War II, Bill France organized races on the beach. The cars continued to race until a track was built in Daytona Beach in 1959. France created NASCAR. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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One of the great myths of Florida is that the rhesus monkeys at Silver Springs were left over from a Tarzan movie filmed there. The monkeys were released by a tour boat operator who wanted to make his Jungle Cruise ride more attractive to tourists. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



Had Walt lived, Disney World might have been far different than it is today. After Walt died, his brother, Roy, took over and did not share Walt’s dream. At a meeting of executives, someone mentioned Walt’s plan, and Roy snapped, “Walt’s dead.”

Construction began, but there were huge problems filling in the swampy land, and the park did not open until 1971. The construction cost was four times the original estimate.

At the same time, plans were made to build Sea World, and within a year or two, dozens of promoters had announced plans to open parks with themes ranging from hurricanes to the Bible. Universal Studios began thinking about building a park in Orlando in 1982 but delayed until 1986. Universal’s park in Los Angeles was something of an accident. The studio had begun offering studio tours, which proved popular and led to a huge amusement park.

Universal opened its first Orlando park in 1990 based on the studio’s movies and television shows. There was a Jaws ride and attractions built around the Flintstones and Murder She Wrote. In 1999, Universal opened a second park featuring more conventional amusement park rides, including roller coasters and a merry-go-round.

For several years, Miami held on as the largest tourist draw, but gradually, Orlando emerged as the leader. Miami’s South Beach went into a decline and did not come back until the television show Miami Vice made it look cool. Suddenly, South Beach was hotter than ever.

Dick Pope, the creator of the state’s top attraction, Cypress Gardens, predicted that Disney World would help his attraction. The year Disney picked Orlando for his new park, a survey of the nation’s travel writers picked the Grand Canyon and Cypress Gardens as the top tourist attractions in the United States. Cypress Gardens seemed impregnable. Pope was wrong: his simple gardens and water ski shows could not compete. All over the state, dozens of attractions closed. Six Gun Territory saw its western town auctioned off, including the wagon used by Digger, the town undertaker.

It was especially difficult for attractions not near one of the interstate highways. Most of them were built along roads such as Route 27 or Route 441, which, in the days before the interstates, brought the bulk of visitors. Now, the tourists bypassed those roads.

On Highway 27, running from Miami to Michigan, some of the prime old attractions were major tourist draws. Gone is the Cypress Knee Museum, which obtained a measure of fame and an appearance on the Tonight Show for the owner. The Citrus Tower, which once looked out on thousands of acres of orange trees, now looks out on thousands of homes, although you can still climb the stairs to the top. Baseball City, which once held major-league spring training games, is gone.

The most unusual of the vanishing attractions is surely Masterpiece Gardens. The attraction featured ten five-hundred-pound panels making up a 300,000-piece mosaic of the Last Supper. It ended up on Route 27, and until 1978, people came to see it and the gardens. The mosaic is at a South Carolina college, and the gardens are a religious retreat.

Some of the old attractions have survived, even flourished. Gatorland, in the shadow of Disney World, still features the shows that began in 1949 with gator wrestling and jumping alligators. Jungle Island in Miami started out as Parrot Jungle in 1936 and is still drawing tourists. Nearby is Monkey Jungle, which opened in 1933 and is home to about four hundred primates.

The small roadside motels also began to disappear or decline, replaced by the large chains. The mom and pop motels, usually with thirty to forty rooms built around a small swimming pool, disappeared just as the attractions did.

Disney World’s Magic Kingdom easily tops the list of attractions with more than seventeen million visitors a year. Its sister park, Epcot, is the nation’s third largest, and coming in fourth is Disney’s Animal Kingdom with nearly ten million visitors. Universal Studios draws more than six million a year, and its sister park, Islands of Adventure, draws more than eight million.


FROM BREWERY TO ROLLER COASTERS

Today, Busch Gardens draws millions of people each year, but in many ways, it is an accidental amusement park.

Adolphus Busch created the Anheuser-Busch brewery and grew wealthy. He and his wife, Lilly, purchased a winter home in Pasadena, and he began planting a beautiful garden. In 1911, the couple decided to open the garden—which included flower displays in the shape of the Budweiser eagle—to the public. He called it Busch Gardens, and it began drawing visitors. Busch died in 1913, and in 1928, the gardens were destroyed.

In 1959, Anheuser-Busch opened a Tampa brewery—the site of a new brewery opened by its prime competitor, Schlitz. Busch opened a reception center at the plant, offering tours and samples of beer. A bird show followed, then a Swiss restaurant, a monorail and scores of live animals.

But the whole work was primarily designed to promote the brewery. After Walt Disney World opened in Orlando, Busch officials created a division to turn Busch Gardens into a theme park. A Moroccan Village opened in 1975, and roller coasters soon followed. Today, Busch Gardens Tampa draws more than four million visitors a year, and other Busch theme parks have opened, although they are no longer associated with the brewery.
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A POLITICAL POWERHOUSE

As Florida grew, its importance in national politics increased. Because it was so small, Florida was not considered a prize in national elections. As late as 1948, Florida had just eight electoral votes, tied for the lowest number in the South.

From 1880 until 1952, with one exception, Florida always joined the rest of the South in supporting the Democratic presidential candidate. Beginning with the 1952 presidential election, Florida was in play by both major political parties. Candidates not only found votes in Florida but also money. Wealthy people could be counted on to make major financial contributions. Presidents and presidential candidates regularly fly into the state to raise money and seek votes.

Even after Florida stopped being an automatic win for the Democrats in presidential elections in 1952, the Democrats controlled the state legislature until the turn of the century. The change in voting attitudes was caused by northern voters moving into the state, the arrival of tens of thousands of Cuban refugees and the national Democratic Party becoming more liberal.

Today, Florida has twenty-nine electoral votes, and it is very difficult for a presidential candidate to put together a majority of electoral votes without carrying Florida.

President Harry Truman spent eight months of his presidency at the Key West White House, and John Kennedy was a frequent visitor to his family’s Palm Beach House.
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After his election as president, John Kennedy met at Palm Beach with his future agriculture secretary, Orville Freeman, while having his portrait painted. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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President Harry Truman’s favorite vacation spot was the navy base at Key West. Truman, who was not wealthy, could stay for free at the base, and the navy provided transportation. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.




ROOSEVELT SEEKS FLORIDA’S WARM WATERS

Late in 1923, Franklin Roosevelt and his friend John Lawrence purchased a second-hand houseboat they named the Larooco (for Lawrence, Roosevelt and Company). Considering Roosevelt’s wealth, the boat was something of a surprise—it was described by one person as looking like a “floating tenement.” Still, the old boat with the faded awnings became known as a yacht. Lawrence clearly did it as an act of friendship; he used the boat only once.
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Giuseppe Zangara tried to kill President-elect Franklin Roosevelt but killed Chicago mayor Anton Cermak instead. He never explained his motivation, only telling anyone who would listen that his stomach hurt. He was quickly executed. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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Mayor Anton Cermak had been a less than enthusiastic supporter of Franklin Roosevelt in the 1932 election. When both were in Miami, the mayor thought he might speak with Roosevelt and make peace. As Roosevelt prepared to speak in Bayfront Park, Cermak moved next to Roosevelt’s convertible. A crazy man began shooting, missing Roosevelt but hitting Cermak and mortally wounding him. Cermak was taken to a hospital, where he died the following day. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



Roosevelt made the purchase for two reasons. First, he believed that swimming in the warm waters off Florida would restore the use of his paralyzed legs. He had been stricken with paralysis while sailing, and he thought he could regain the use of his legs by swimming. The second reason was his close friend—and probably his romantic interest—Missy LeHand. She could accompany him to Florida, one thousand miles away from Roosevelt’s wife, Eleanor. They set sail for the first time on the Larooco on February 2, 1924. Doctors had told him that his condition would not improve, but Roosevelt rejected their medical opinions.

The news left him depressed. LeHand recalled, “There were days on the Larooco when it was noon before he could pull himself out of depression and greet his guests wearing his lighthearted façade.”

He swam daily, hoping the strength would return to his legs. But he came to realize that there was no chance for improvement, plus he was concerned about the sharks he saw while swimming. “The sharks make it impossible to play around in the deep water for any length of time, and the sand beaches are few and far between,” Roosevelt wrote.

He put the boat up for sale. “Johnny Lawrence and I have decided to offer good old Larooco for sale, and we have a superfluous quantity of china, linen, etc.” The boat sat in a marina in Fort Lauderdale waiting for a buyer when a hurricane struck—one of the worst to ever hit the state—and swept it up the Fort Lauderdale River about a mile. Roosevelt tried to sell it as a hunting lodge but ended up selling it for junk. “So ended a good old craft with a personality,” Roosevelt wrote.

Fortunately for Roosevelt, he had plenty of wealthy friends with yachts to take him sailing when he came to Florida.

One such voyage took place in 1933 when the president elect came to Florida to go out with his friend Vincent Astor, heir to the John Jacob Astor fortune. They sailed from Miami, and on returning, Roosevelt agreed to make a single public appearance, which came close to being his last public appearance.

Roosevelt agreed to speak in Bayfront Park in downtown Miami. One of those who read about the speech was Giuseppe Zangara, an unemployed immigrant, who complained constantly about pain in his stomach.

The plan was for Roosevelt to be driven into the park in an open convertible and to speak from his car while sitting on the convertible top. That way, he would not be seen being lifted from the car and placed in his wheel chair—something he always avoided.

Zangara wanted to kill President Herbert Hoover, but Hoover was far away in Washington. Zangara went to the park with a small pistol. As Roosevelt finished speaking, Zangara moved toward him and opened fire just feet from the president-elect.

Five people around Roosevelt were struck by bullets, but amazingly, Roosevelt was not hit. One of the wounded was Chicago mayor Anton Cermak, who later died. A woman sitting on a bench saw what Zangara was doing and hit his arm, perhaps saving Roosevelt.
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After winning the presidency in 1968, President-elect Nixon and his wife entertained Vice President–elect Spiro Agnew and Agnew’s wife, Judy, at Key Biscayne. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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President Ronald Reagan was a frequent visitor to Florida. He made an appearance at Epcot with his wife, Mickey and Minnie. He gave one of his most famous speeches at a nearby hotel when he told a crowd that the Soviet Union was an “evil empire.” Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.




Within five days of the shooting, Zangara had been tried and convicted of attempted murder. When Cermak died, Zangara was charged with murder and convicted.

Asked on the stand if he knew what he was doing, Zangara replied, “Sure I know, I gonna kill president. I take picture of president in my pocket…I shoot at him. But somebody move my arm. They fools. They should have let me kill him.”

Thirty-five days after the shooting, Zangara was strapped into the electric chair at the state prison at Raiford. He yelled, “Lousy capitalists… no pictures!” as a photographer snapped his picture. A hood was put over his head, but he kept yelling. “Go ahead. Push the button.” Within moments, Zangara was dead.




THE PRESIDENTIAL CANDIDATE TURNED DEVELOPER

Three times, the Democratic Party nominated William Jennings Bryan for president, and three times he lost. After his third loss, he came to Florida on vacation and arrived in Miami when the town had just a few thousand visitors. Miami had just six thousand residents when Bryan built one of the first mansions there.

In 1912, he again was a candidate for the nomination and still had a substantial following. But he threw his support to Woodrow Wilson, who won the nomination and the presidency. As a reward, Bryan was named secretary of state and returned to Washington. But as World War I began in Europe, Bryan and Wilson had a falling out, and Bryan quit the cabinet.

He returned to Florida, where he soon became involved in the land boom. Developer George Merrick had launched Coral Gables, an upscale city near Miami. He hired Bryan to give speeches, which would draw crowds of potential buyers. There were hundreds of developments all over Florida, but only one had Bryan to draw the crowds.

His speeches drew thousands, who heard a speech on politics or the Bible and then a pitch to buy land. Bryan reportedly received $100,000 a year for his speeches—over $1 million today—and took part of it in land. The man known as the Great Commoner and friend of the little man became wealthy.

There was speculation he might run for the U.S. Senate in 1924, but he backed down. He was a Florida delegate to the Democratic National Convention that year. He decided he would run for the Senate seat in 1926, but he died the year before. Thousands turned out for his funeral in Miami.
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The Republican National Convention was held in Miami Beach in 1968. Ronald Reagan made his first national try for the White House. He lost the nomination to Richard Nixon, who went on to win the presidency. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.




NIXON FINDS THE SUN

Richard Nixon loved the sun and warm weather. His problem was that, for a politician in Washington, the warmth of his home in California was far away. After Nixon’s election to the United States Senate in 1950, he returned to Washington and the cold weather. He ran into his close friend George Smathers, the newly elected senator from Florida. The two had become close since their election to the House of Representatives in 1946.

Nixon complained about the cold weather and said that it took an entire day to reach California in the days before commercial jets. And once he got there, it was difficult for him to obtain privacy.

Smathers had a solution: head for Florida, where the warm weather was just a few hours away. Smathers said he would have a friend show Nixon the sights of Miami. The friend turned out to be Bebe Rebozo, who would become Nixon’s best friend for the rest of their lives.

Nixon became a regular in Florida. After his election as president in 1968, there were rumors that Nixon might name a Democrat to his cabinet as a gesture of reuniting a nation torn apart by the war in Vietnam. Who better than his friend Smathers, who was retiring from the Senate after three terms?
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Richard Nixon first met Bebe Rebozo in 1950 after Nixon was elected to the Senate. Nixon came to Florida for a rest after the campaign, and Rebozo was his host. They became best friends through Nixon’s good times and bad times. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



When the call came, Nixon told Smathers he wanted to ask him a favor, to make a sacrifice. Smathers told him he could have anything he wanted. Nixon said he wanted to buy the Smathers home at Key Biscayne. Although it was not what he was expecting, Smathers agreed.

It became the Key Biscayne White House. Nixon took his family there within a couple of months and worked to make appointments to his cabinet. Eventually, the single house became a compound with five buildings. The streets were closed off, and a helicopter pad was installed.

He was at his Key Biscayne home in 1973 when he learned of the Watergate burglary, which eventually doomed his presidency.

After Nixon left the presidency, the house was sold and eventually torn down to make room for a huge home.
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The weekend before his assassination, President John Kennedy came to south Florida, where he greeted fans with Florida senator George Smathers, his best friend. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.




THE SPEECH THAT NEVER WAS

It is one of the greatest speeches in political history, quoted millions of times and appearing in dozens of books and thousands of newspaper and magazine articles. The only problem is that the speech was never given.

The story begins in 1950 when a young congressman named George Smathers was challenging Senator Claude Pepper for the Democratic nomination. Pepper had been in the Senate for sixteen years; Smathers had been in the House for just four years. Smathers ran an aggressive campaign against Pepper, linking him with left-wing organizations in a very conservative state.

During the campaign, reporters complained of hearing the same speeches day after day. Some claimed they could deliver the speeches from memory. Some reporters began joking about possible things the candidates could say, using words they said would confuse the redneck Florida voters.

A reporter for Time magazine heard the phony lines and used some in an April 1950 article:

Are you aware that Claude Pepper is known all over Washington as a shameless extrovert? Not only that, but this man is reliably reported to practice nepotism with his sister-in-law, he has a brother who is a known homo sapien, and he has a sister who was once a thespian in wicked New York. Worst of all, it is an established fact that Mr. Pepper, before his marriage, habitually practiced celibacy.

Smathers denied he had given the speech, but it stayed with him for the rest of his life. He offered a $10,000 reward to anyone who could prove that the speech had been given, and no one ever claimed the reward. The speech took on a life of its own, growing far beyond what Time had originally written. Just about anyone could add a line. Here is one version of the imaginary speech that was quoted by the 1970s:


All the slime and filth and corruption you can possibly imagine are glaringly non-existent in this man’s life. And even during his childhood. Let us take a quick look at that childhood. It is a known fact that, on a number of occasions, he emulated older boys at a certain playground. And this man, who poses as a paragon of virtue, exacerbated his own sister when they were both teenagers.

The men in his family are likewise completely amenable to moral suasion. His uncle was a flagrant heterosexual. His sister, who has always been obsessed by sects, once worked as a proselyte outside the church. His great-aunt expired from a degenerative disease. His nephew subscribed to a phonographic magazine. His wife was a thespian before their marriage and even performed in front of paying customers. And his mother had to resign from an organization in her later years because she was an admitted sexagenarian.

The facts are now clear. Do your duty.



Smathers easily won the election. Pepper was out of politics until he won a House seat in 1962.
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THE CELEBRITIES OF FLORIDA


HEMINGWAY DISCOVERS KEY WEST

For years, the great writer John Dos Passos tried to get his friend Ernest Hemingway to come to Key West. Dos Passos described the tiny island as a paradise, but Hemingway politely declined the invitations.

In 1928, Hemingway finally relented. He agreed to a quick visit on his way from Cuba to the United States. He had an ulterior motive; his wife’s uncle was buying him a new Model A Ford Roadster, and he could pick it up in Key West. His visit would last a day or two.

But when he arrived in Key West, the car was not there. The embarrassed owners of the Trev-Mor Ford dealership apologized and told Hemingway he could stay in the Trev-Mor Hotel, which was conveniently located above the auto dealership.

The days turned into two weeks, and during that time, Hemingway fell in love with the island. While waiting for his car, Hemingway finished his novel, A Farewell to Arms. The uncle of Hemingway’s new wife, Pauline Pfeiffer, was a founder of what became Warner-Lambert, the giant pharmaceutical company, and was very wealthy. In addition to the car, Uncle Gus agreed to buy them a home in Key West.

The home was the largest on the island, built in 1851. Shipbuilder Asa Tift built the house, but his descendants encountered financial problems, and Uncle Gus purchased the home for $8,000 in back taxes. The house was across the street from the lighthouse, and the local joke was that when Hemingway drank to excess at a local bar, he could follow the lighthouse home.


[image: image]

The Key West home of Ernest Hemingway was built in 1851 and occupied by the same family for nearly eighty years. Hemingway came to Key West in 1928 at the urging of his friend John Dos Passos. He purchased the home in 1931, and even though he lived there for only eight years, it is the home most closely associated with him. It is across the street from the lighthouse, and friends joked that when he drank too much, the lighthouse would show him the way home. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



He built a writing room on the second floor of the pool house that his wife had built, along with a $20,000 swimming pool (about $250,000 today). Hemingway worked in the writing room in the morning and then in the afternoon set out for fishing on his boat, the Pilar, or for a trip to the bar.

A Farewell to Arms was published to wide critical acclaim, further enhancing his reputation. He followed that up with Death in the Afternoon, The Green Hills of Africa and The Snows of Kilimanjaro. His book To Have and Have Not is the only one of his books set in the United States. Supposedly, he used the characters he met in Key West. The final book he wrote in Key West was For Whom the Bell Tolls.

As his fame grew, visitors to Key West wanted to see the great writer. He was angered when tourism officials printed a map showing the location of his home. Day and night, people would knock on his front door to meet the great man. He found someone who looked like him and hired the guy to stand out in front of the house. Hundreds of people went away thinking they had an autograph of a famous author but had only the signature of a look-alike. He hired another man to stand outside the house and pretend he had leprosy to frighten away unwanted visitors.

Key West was also the place where his marriage began to end. In 1936, he met journalist Martha Gelhorn, and soon an affair began. Ernest and Pauline Hemingway divorced, and Pauline Hemingway got the Key West house. Hemingway and Gelhorn were married in 1940 but divorced five years later.

Hemingway committed suicide in 1961. The Key West home sold in 1964 for $80,000 and became a museum.
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With just a few dollars, Mary Bethune created Bethune-Cookman College for African Americans in Daytona Beach. She was good at raising money by making influential friends. The list included John D. Rockefeller and Franklin and Eleanor Roosevelt. Mrs. Roosevelt visited the campus, and President Roosevelt welcomed her at the White House. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



The people who have come from Florida range from a Nobel Prize winner to famous actors, musicians and business tycoons.

John Atanasoff grew up in Polk County, where his father was an engineer for a phosphate company. John was fascinated by his father’s slide rule, and after graduating from the University of Florida in 1926, he went on to build the first working computer.

Jeff Bezos started a summer camp for kids in Miami as a student at Miami Palmetto High School in 1982 and then went on to found Amazon.com.


BILLY GRAHAM FINDS HIS VOICE

A young man began his study for the ministry in Tennessee, but his health was poor, and his doctor recommended that he seek a warmer climate. He found just what he was looking for at the tiny Florida Bible Institute outside Tampa. His preaching was not the best, so he practiced on street corners and in mobile home parks. He had four basic sermons he had borrowed and adapted.

The young Billy Graham was invited by a friend to join him at a religious conference in Palatka, about 150 miles away, near St. Augustine. His friend, the dean of his school, was asked to preach at a small Baptist church. “No,” he said, “Billy is going to preach.”

Graham later said he was stunned. “I was so frightened that I spent the night studying and praying instead of sleeping. The congregation of about forty included ranchers and cowboys in overalls and their women in cotton wash dresses.”

He said his knees shook. He gave one of the four sermons, “It seemed to be over almost as soon as I got started.” So he gave his second sermon, then his third and finally his fourth. Then sat down. All four sermons had lasted a grand total of eight minutes.

The experience convinced him he was not going to be a great evangelist. He was supposed to speak again in Palatka but was so depressed he decided not to return. A friend convinced him to fulfill his obligation. To his surprise, when he returned to Palatka, the crowds were larger and kept growing. The small church was filled to overflowing.

He became an evangelist and left Florida, not to return until 1949. By then, he was nationally known. In Miami, he drew thirty-five thousand people.
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Burt Reynolds moved to Riviera Beach as a child—his father was the police chief. He won a football scholarship to Florida State University, but a football injury and a car crash ended his dream of a professional football career and set him on his way to acting. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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Marjory Stoneman Douglas came to Florida as a reporter for her father’s newspaper before becoming a champion for the Florida environment. She helped save the Everglades through her crusading, which spanned nearly seven decades. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



Actor Sidney Poitier became a Floridian in a most unusual way. His parents were farmers in the Bahamas who brought their crops to sell in Miami. On one of their trips to sell their crops, Poitier was born. Although he spent much of his youth in the Bahamas, his Miami birth gave him U.S. citizenship.

The list of actors from Florida is long and includes Faye Dunaway, Johnny Depp, Mandy Moore, Burt Reynolds, Wesley Snipes and Ben Vereen.

Depp grew up in Miramar but dropped out of high school to join a band. The band failed, and Depp returned to high school. But his principal told him to follow his dream, drop out of high school and head for Los Angeles, where he became an actor.


CAPONE FINDS A HOME IN MIAMI

By 1928, things were heating up in Chicago for Al Capone. He was the undisputed king of Chicago crime, and thanks to his political connections, he also ran the city. His fame had spread around the world. But he decided he needed a home far away from Chicago to get away from both the cold Chicago winter and the increasing interest in his business affairs by federal authorities.

While Prohibition enabled Capone to make a fortune in the illegal liquor business, it virtually shut down the beer business of Clarence Busch, maker of Budweiser beer. So Busch put his Miami mansion up for sale, and the buyer was Capone, who paid $40,000 for the mansion on Palm Island between Miami and Miami Beach.

Miami had undergone a huge land boom from 1920 to 1925, with land prices escalating by the day. But the boom had turned to a bust, with land prices collapsing and thousands of buyers walking away from the land they owed money on. The arrival of Capone further damaged the reputation of the resort. Miami leaders were trying to sell the city as a vacation wonderland and thought Americans would get the impression it was another Chicago.

Despite the city’s desire to appear clean, it was Chicago without the gunfire. There was gambling everywhere, and a saloon was located just one block from the police headquarters. Unlike Chicago, where much of the liquor was made in bathtubs and the aging process was counted in minutes, Miami could boast the real stuff. It was brought over in high-speed boats from Cuba or Bimini.

Capone claimed he was a second-hand furniture dealer, but everyone knew his real business. The Miami News led a crusade to run him out of town. The city filed a suit, saying his home was a menace to safety. The governor ordered “all sheriffs to arrest him on sight.”

He was arrested several times and jailed once. He was in Miami when the St. Valentine’s Day Massacre took place in Chicago—a crime for which he was blamed but never arrested.

In 1929, he went to jail in Philadelphia on a concealed weapons charge and then returned to Miami, where he tried to improve his image. He hosted well-publicized dinners in Miami to convince the locals that he was a good guy.

In early 1929, before he was sworn in as president, Herbert Hoover visited Miami and stayed at the home of his friend J.C. Penny on an island near Capone’s home.

There are two stories that emerge from this period. One is that Hoover was in a hotel lobby surrounded by reporters asking about his plans for the new administration. The reporters began to drift away, and Hoover asked an aide what was happening. The aide explained that Capone had walked into the lobby, and the reporters wanted to talk with him. Hoover was stunned to learn that reporters considered Capone more newsworthy than him. The second story is that Hoover was awakened one night by gunfire. When he asked what was happening, he was told it was coming from Capone’s home.

Whatever happened, while he was in Miami, Hoover made a decision. He ordered his treasury secretary to “Get Capone.” The government launched a massive effort to jail Capone, culminating in tax evasion charges.

Capone was convicted and sentenced to prison. For years, he had suffered from syphilis, and his condition became worse during the six years he was in prison. By the time he was released, he was suffering from dementia.

He returned to his Miami home. Aides would help him to the dock, put him in a chair and put a fishing pole in his hand. When reporters in boats came too close, he would be hustled back into the house.

In 1947, he died at the age of forty-seven.
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Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings moved to the isolated community of Cross Creek. She began to write about her friends and neighbors and produced two classic books, The Yearling and Cross Creek. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



Depp may have failed as a musician, but lots of musicians from Florida have found success. Pat Boone was born in Jacksonville, where he won a local music contest on his way to being one of the 1950s most popular singers, competing with Elvis Presley for top billing. Enrique Iglesias grew up in Miami, and Jim Morrison was born in Melbourne. Morrison was thrown out of Florida State University for a rules violation and then turned to a musical career as lead singer for The Doors.


FROM OBSCURITY TO FAME TO OBSCURITY

Zora Neale Hurston once said, “I’ve got the map of Florida on my tongue.” She was never far from Florida, whether she was writing about it or living there. She moved to Eatonville, an all–African American community in central Florida, when she was a child. Working as a maid in a white household was a turning point for her. The white woman arranged for her to go to high school and then to college at Howard University.

Eventually, she graduated from New York’s Barnard College, where she was the only African American student. She was in New York during the Harlem Renaissance, a period when Harlem exploded with music, literature and art. She published her first story and caught the eye of other writers.

In 1929, she came back to Florida, settling in the coastal community of Eau Gallie, to write her first novel, Mules and Men. Her book was finally published in 1935 to outstanding reviews. Today, the book is still widely read.
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Zora Neal Hurston grew up in Eatonville, an African American town outside Orlando. She became a famous writer during the Harlem Renaissance. She died in obscurity in Fort Pierce and was buried in a pauper’s grave. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.



Two years later, she won a Guggenheim Fellowship for study in Jamaica and Haiti, which led to her second novel, Their Eyes Were Watching God. Despite her fame, she had little money and during the Great Depression took a job with the Works Progress Administration, a federal program to provide jobs.

She worked on a guidebook about Florida, traveling around and conducting interviews. She also conducted interviews with former slaves as part of a project to record memories of those slaves who still survived. She worked for Bethune-Cookman College in Daytona Beach, creating a drama program for the African American school.

She also wrote for a variety of publications, including the Saturday Evening Post. By the 1940s, her reputation had begun to fade. Her books went out of print and began to draw criticism for their portrayal of African Americans.

By the 1950s, she was all but forgotten. She went through a series of jobs, and in 1956, she was evicted from a cottage in Eau Gallie. She landed a job as a librarian at Patrick Air Force Base but was fired by a white supervisor who said she was too intelligent.

Eventually, she found work as a maid, but when a magazine wrote a story about her, her employers were embarrassed to be employing a famous person as a maid and fired her.

In 1958, she suffered a series of strokes and was admitted to a local welfare home, where she died in 1960. She was buried in an unmarked grave in a charity cemetery. In 1975, another prominent African American writer, Alice Walker, wrote a glowing article about Hurston and brought about a revival of her work.
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Elvis Presley began coming to Florida early in his musical career, touring with the comic Andy Griffith and the country singer Hank Snow. When he became a star, he returned to film the movie Follow that Dream. Shooting took place in Ocala, Inverness and Yankeetown. Governor Farris Bryant arrived at the premier of the movie in Ocala. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.
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John Ringling played a major role in creating Sarasota. He used it as the winter headquarters for his circus and built a magnificent home there, which is now part of the Florida university system. Courtesy of the Florida Archives Photographic Collection.




BEFORE THE KING, THERE WAS A PILOT

It became the most famous marriage of the twentieth century, the wedding of former King Edward and Wallis Warfield Simpson. Edward gave up his throne for the woman he loved, an event that captivated the world. One of the reasons he could not marry her and still keep the throne was that she had been married twice before, once in Florida.

She arrived in Pensacola in 1916 on the train from Baltimore, changing in Jacksonville. She was twenty-one years old and planned to stay with a friend. Her friend asked her to a luncheon with three airmen. Wallis was immediately impressed with one of the airmen, Earl Spencer, a young pilot in the early days of aviation. Spencer was such an air pioneer that he had pilot license number eleven and later became the first commander of the Naval Air Station in San Diego.

They were married in Baltimore just six months after meeting. While they were being married, a violent hurricane struck Pensacola, and they returned to a devastated city.

Spencer drank heavily, and the couple fought. To escape, Simpson went to the movies nearly every day, sometimes seeing the same movie over and over again.

She also didn’t like Pensacola. Months after they were married, the United States entered World War I, and the best pilots headed for Europe. Because of his drinking, Spencer was not allowed to go, instead being assigned to train pilots in Boston.

The couple separated several times before divorcing in 1927. Simpson left Florida after thirteen months. When she returned years later, she was the Duchess of Windsor.



The list of sports figures from Florida could fill any all-star team roster. There are baseball players Jose Canseco, Steve Carlton and Dwight Gooden. The football players include Dante Culpepper, Bob Hayes, Emmitt Smith, Steve Spurrier and Ray Lewis.
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